
I suppose it will be received by me tomorrow when I hope 
to reach Patna If I do not receive it earher. 

H. E. Sir Hu ~h Dow, 
Govcrnor of Bihar, 
P atna. 

Dear Mr. GandhI, 

344 

Yours sincerelv, 
M. K. GandhI 

Government Home, 
Patna, 

nnd March 1947. 

Thank yOIl for your letter 01 yestcrd,ty, whIch I h1.ve 
Juc>t I eceiv@~ I hope we ~hall be able to }uve a furtht·r talk 
soon aftn your I cturn to Patna, and I "hd.11 be gratefnl for 
any advIce you can ;1VC. May I say tlMe S) far d.S I am able 
to lud~e, your VISIt to tIus plovince ha~ been, ,mel ls"bcll1~, 
of ~n at hdp In cre,ttm~ ,t bettl'r ~Plflt between the rnmmu­
mtl(s. You mmt h.we re.lll~(>d how much stIll remainS to bf' 
donf'. 

I suppose I am a burcaUC1,lt m the seUOL used by you. 
it IS not a term that I resent. Thc complexIty of modern lIfe 
tie" m03t rukl s to then desks more than they hke, and thl~ 
must be true ('v('n of youn,elf. But I look forw.lrd to the early 
day when neIther half of tIllS word WIll helve much applIca­
tion to mc. 
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Deal fnend, 

Yours smcerely, 
H. Dow 

Patna, 
25th March 1947. 

Many thanks for your letter of thl' 22nd instant. I have 
to dcny myself the pleao;urc of wntlllg m my own hand for the 
sake 01 spannlS you thl' inflIctlOn of bad handwnting, of WhICh 
I am really ashamed. Whcnever you feel that you want to 
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discuss anything with me please do not hesitate to tell me so 
and I shall be at your disposal. 

I am going on my third lour tomorrow morning. I 
return on the 28th instant. 

H. E. Sir Hugh Dow, 
Government House, 
Patna. 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 



XI 
CORRESPONDENCE WITH LORD MOUNTBATTEN 

OF BURMA: 1947 

(A) TOWARDS PARTITION 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi. 

22nd March 1947. 

I have arrived in Delhi today, and I write to say that I 
hope we shall.be able to meet soon. I rcali~e that it may be 
difficult for you to come to Delhi at once in view of your 
prcoccupations in Bihar, but pcrhaps you would let me know 
when you will be able to comc. I look forward to seein(you. 

With good wishes, 

M. K. Gandhi, Esq. 
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Dear FrIend, 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Patna, 
26th March 1947. 

I thank you for your letter of the 22nd instant received 
by me yesterday. . 

You have rightly gauged my difficulty about moving out 
of Bihar at the prc~ent moment. But I dare not resist your 
kind call. I am just now leaving for one of the disturbed 
areas of Bihar. Will you therefore forgive me if I do no't send 
you the exact date of my departure for Delhi? I return from 
this third Bihar tour on the 28th instant. My departure will 
therefore be as quickly as I can arrange it after the 28th. 

In order that this may be in your hands as early as 
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possible I send this through His Excellency the Governor of 
Bihar. 

H. E. Lord Louis Mountbattcn of Burma, 
New Delhi. 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

P. S. I expect to leave for New Delhi on 30th instant. 
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Dear Lord Ismay, 

M.K.G. 

Bhangi Colony, 
New Delhi, 

5th April 1947. 

Pandit Nehru gave me what you have de'\Cribed a~ an 
nutline of a scheme. What I read is merdy a copy of the 
points I hurriedly dIctated, whereas, as I understood from 
H. r.. the Viceroy, you were to prf'pare a draft agr('cment 
after the line of the points I had dictated. Of course you were 
at liberty to amend them, add to them and omit what you 
wished to omit. 

I had a chat with Pandit Nehru twire during the day, 
the second time when he handed a copy of the outline at 
5 p.m. 

The seventh point should read thus ;- "Within the 
framework hereof Mr. Jinnah will be perfectly free to pre­
sent for acceptance a scheme of Pakistan even before the 
transfer of power, provided however, that he is successful 
in his appeal to reason and not to the force of arms which 
he abjures for all time for this purpose. Thus, there will be 
no compulsion in this matter O'Ver a Province or a part 
thereof. " 

What I could not recall yesterday I now recall. 
The eighth will rnd as follows ;- "In the A'!sembly 

the Cungress has a decisive majority. But the Congress shall 
never 'use that majorit} against the League policy simply 
because of its identificatIOn with the League but will give 
its hearty support to every measure brought fonvard by the 
League Government, provided that it is in the interest of 
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the whole of India. Whether it is in such interest or not 
shall be decided by Lord Mountbatten as man and not in 
his representative capacity. " 

I have finished dictating this at 8.45 p. m. I am anxious 
that it reaches you tonight. Therefore', I have only made 
manifest correction and addition. The outline is by no means 
complete. When a draft agreement is prepared, many other 
points which should occur to any draftsman will have to 
be covered. 

I must add that Pandit Nehru has at least one vital 
objection to the outline. But I will not tax you with its 
mention here. If tht' outline appears workable to H. E. I 
would like to wait on him once more and discuss Pandit 
Nehru's obiections. Before putting it before Q A. Jinnah 
I would like to show it to a few fripnds. -. 
Lord Ismay. 

Yours sincerely) 
M. K. Gandhi 

[THE FOLLOWING WERE THE POINTS REFERRED TO IN THE 

ABOVE FOR A DRAIT AGREEMENT DICTATED BY GANDHI]I 

10 LORD ISMAY. J 

1. Mr. Jinnah to be given the option of forming a 
Cabinet. 

Z. The selection of the Cabinet is left entirely to 
Mr. Jinnah. The members may be all Moslems. 01 all 
non-Moskms, or they may be representatives of all classes 
and creeds of the Indian people. 

3. If Mr. Jinnah acccpted this offer, the Congress \\ould 
guarantee to co-operate freely and sincerely, so long as all 
the measures that Mr. Jinnah's Cabinet bring forward are 
in the interests of the Indian people as a whole. 

1. The sole referee of what is or is not in the interests 
of India as a whole will be Lord Mountbatten, in his 
personal capacity. 

5. Mr. Jinnah must stipulate', on behalf of the League 
or of any other parties represented in the Cabinet formed by 
him that, so far as he or they are concerned, they will do 
their utmost to preserve peace throughout India. 
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6. There shall be no National Guards or any other form 
of private army. 

7. Within the framework hereof Mr. Jinnah will be 
perfectly free to present for acceptance a scheme of Pakistan 
even before the transfer of power, provided 11o\'lC\ er, that he 
is successful in his appeal to reason and not to the force of 
arms which he abjures for all time for this purpoRt". Thus, 
there will be no compulsion in this matter over a Province 
or a part therf'of. 

8. In the Assembly the Congress has a df'cisive majority. 
But thf' Congress shall never lIse that majority against the 
League policy simply because of its identification with the 
League but will give its hearty support to every measure 
brought forward by the League Government, provided that 
it is in th(" interest of the whole of India. Whether it is in 
such interest or not shall be decided by Lord Mounthatt~n 
~s m:m and not in his representative capacity":" 

9. If Mr. Jinnah n:jects this offer, the same oHh to be 
made ;nutatis mutandis to Congress. 

PER'iONAL 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
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The Vicc'Il,Y'" House, 
New Delhi, 

6th April l<H7. 

Thank you for your letter of 5th April. .It was very 
kind of you to dictate it at sClch ,1 late hour in order that 
it might reach me last night. 

I think that there has been som(' misundf'rstanding about 
the form of th('" short note which I· prepared la,t Friday. As 
I.understood it, Lord Mountbatten, on th(' conclusion of 
his talk with you, asked if you would be so good as to spare 
a little more time for a talk with me about your plan, in 
order that I might prepare a short note summarising its 
salient features in general terms. He had no intention, so far 
a~ I know, that I should attempt anything formal or 
elaborate. I have now shown him your letter and he confirms 
that my interpretation of his wishes was correct. 
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I have prepared a revisro copy of my note substituting 
your version of point 7 for the original and including your 
point 8. This covers much the same ground as my original 
points 3 and 4, which therefore now become redundant. 

Lord Mountbatten has asked me to 'lay that he much 
looks forward to having another talk with you about your 
plan before you leave. 

May I conclude with an expression of my personal 
thanks for having spared me so much of your time last Fri­
<lay. 

M. K. Gandhi, Esq. 

Yours 'lincerely, 
Ismay 

P. S. The Viceroy assures you that he will not mention 
your plan to Mr. Jinnah until he has had a further talk about 
it with you:-
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Dcar Lord Ismay, 

Bhangi Colony, 
Nt'w Del!1i, 

6th April 1947. 

Many thanks for your letter of even date. 
The very thought that at the threshold of my friendshIp 

with Lord Mountbatten and you, there can be any misunder­
standing at ..tIl fills me with grave doubt about my ability 
to shoulder the burden I have takt"'n upon my wt"'ak self. 
It is impossible, at every stage, to reduce to writing conversa­
tions, :md that would be, in my opinion, a bar to friendship. 
I can only say that there must be some defect in my under­
standin~ or my attentiveness if I misunderstand very simple 
things. I do not feel inclined to reproduct'" the talk about 
this topic except to mention one thing viz. that H. E. 
mentioned [V. P.] Menon to you and said you should prepare 
something in conjunction with him and I was to give you 
the points which were to become the basi~ of the draft you 
were to prepare. 

So far as you are concerned you correctly took down 
what you heard from me. But as it did not answer what I 

240 



wanted to say I have given you my considered view about 
point 7. 

Now that I have Sf'cn Nos. 3 and 4 I muc;t differ from 
you in your view that with the new version of No. 7 and 
filling in of No.8, Nos. 3 and 4 becomc redundant. But 
of this later, if we ever reach the comidcratioh sf age of the 
" outline". 

Sincc writing this Badshah Khan came into my room 
and I find that hc confirms the gist of the conversation with 
Lord Mountbatten as de!>cribcd by mc and adds that whcn 
we went to your office I told you that I had only to give 
the points as I hastily thought of them in ord('r to enable 
yuu and your draftsman to prepare a dr;1ft a3recment. 

Lord Ismay. 
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Dt-ar Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

The Viceroy's Hotm', 
New Delhi, 

7th April 1947. 

Ismay has shown me your letter to hillt of 6th April, 
and we both are most up"ct to think that any act, or omis­
~ion, on our part should in any way increase tht~ great bur­
dcn you are bearing. I therefore think it right to send you 
the following personal explanation. 

As we werc parting last friday afternoon, I said that 
y<)ur plan had many attractions for mc and I asked you if 
you would be so good as to explain it to Ismay, who had 
n,)t been present when you first propounded it. On your 
'llSt/~eing to do so, I asl(cd Ismay' to make a note of its 
salie'nt features, and I authorised him to talk it over in 
confidence with the Rcfoirns Commissioner. I am extremely 
sorry if by these ob~crvati()ns I gave you the impression that 
I wished your plan reduced to the terms of a formal agree­
ment. 

A.s I explained to you during the many talks that we 
have enjoyed, my aim has been and is to keep a perfectly 
open mind until I have had the advantages of discussions 
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with important Indian political kJ.ders with the object or 
seeking an agreement between all partiesr so that peace can 
be restored in the country and an acceptable basi, for tllt' 
transfer of power be worked out. When these prelimin,u)' 
conversations have been completed, I shall then have to 
make up my mind as to what I am going to recommend to 
His Majesty's Governmrnt and, before I do so, I shall most 
certainly take advantage of your kind offer of further dis­
cussion with you. 

M. K. Gandhi, Esq., 
Bhangi Colony, 
Reading Road, New Delhi. 

Dear Ji'riend, 
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Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma. 

Readin~ 
Bhangi Colony ~ 

Road, New Delhi, 
7th ApriJ [947. 

I have prrs~ing kttcrs from friends in the Punjab asking 
me to go there even if it be for a few days. P.mdit Nehru 
agrees. Nevertheless I would like you to guide me too. 

Then Noakhali calls. If wires received by me during the 
last two days are to be relied upon, there is incr(';l,ing law­
lessness in l\ioakhali. Attempts at rO.lstmg people alivc have 
been traced twicl', and loot etc. is going on. You will see 
my public statement in the Pre~s. 

This outbreak or violencl' i~ not a mere detail. It' it 
cannot be dealt with I1CHV it won't be fourtccn month" hCl1ce. 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Your/> sincerel y, 
M. K. Gandhi 

The Viceroy's Home, 
New Delhi, 

7th April 1947. 

Many thanks for your letter of today. I find it difficult 
to advise you. Though the root causes of the disturbances 
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in the Punjab still exist there has been a considerable measure 
of success in dealing with immediate disturbances, and I 
doubt whether you ought to exhaust yourself by undertaking 
any tour in the Punjab at this time of the year. 

I quite agree that those outbrea.ks of violence are not 
a mere detail. 'Vhat we have to secure is a ~ettlem('nt het­
ween the parties at the centre amI, if possible, a combined 
front a~ainst violence. It is the effort to Hnd ,\ solution 
which will occuPy all my efforts in the near futult', .1Ild I 
know I can rely on help from you wherever YOll may be. 

I enjoyed meeting you so much and found all you had 
to say of the greatest interest. 

M. K. Gandhi, Esq. 
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Dear Frif'nd. 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Bhangi Colony, 
Reading Road, New Delhi, 

8th April 1947. 

Many thanks for your two letters of 7th instant. 
As to the first I am glad that as I re<trl it, wh,!tever 

misunderstanding if there was any, was of no comc4uence. 
As to the second letter, the wt'.ithcr would not stand 

in the way of my going to the Punj.lb. I must ask the voice 
within for final guidance. If I do go I shall let you know 
the date. 

Of course you can rely upon my help no m:ltter wherever 
J happen to he at the time. 

H. E. the VIceroy. 
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Yours sinccrrly, 
M. K. Gandhi 
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Dear Friend, 

Bhangi Colony, 
Reading Road, New Delhl, 

11th April 1947. 

I had several short talks with Pandit Nehru, and an 
hour's talk with him alone, and then with several members 
of the Working Committee last night about tht' formula I 
had sketched before you, and which I had filled in for 
them with all the implications. I am sorry to say that I 
failed to carry any of them with me except Badshah Khan. 

I do not know that having failed to carry both the head 
and heart of Pandit Nehru with me I would have wanted 
to carry tl!e matter further. But PandltjI was so grlod that 
he would not be sati<;fied until the whole plan was d;scussed 
with the few members of the Congress Working Committee 
who were present. ~ 

I felt sorry that I could not convince them of thp ror­
rectness of my plan from every point of View. Nor could they 
dislodge me from my position although I had not closed my 
mind against every argument. Thus I have to ask you to 
omit me from your consideration. 

Congre'>smen who are m the Interim Govt'rnment are 
stalwarts, seasoned c;ervants of the nation and, therefore, so 
far as the Congress point of view is concerned, they will be 
complete advisers. 

I would still love to take the place that the late C. F. 
And.rews took. He represented no one but himself And if 
you ever need my servIce on its merit, It will bt! always at 
your disposal. . 

In the circumstances above mentioned, subject to your 
cons('nt, I propose, if possible, to leave tomorrow for Patna. 

I have not forgotten the book about trIbal expedition<;. 
I have not yet been able to lay my hands on it for·1 cannot 
recall the name of the author nor the year in which I read 
the book. As I told you it was years ago in S. Africa that 
I came across it. My search will continue wherever I am 
and as soon as I trace it, it shall be sent to you. 
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I must also confess a slip of memory I am answerable 
for in the cours~ of our talks. I was wrong in connecting 
Sir Francis Mudie with the late Pandit Nehru. The incident 
l referred to was in connection with Muddiman, not Mudie. 
The charge, almost universally believed by Congressmen 
against the present Governor of Sindh remains unaltered -
in spite of my slip of memory. 

I hope these constant interviews are not proving an 
unbearable strain. 

H. E. the Viceroy. 
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Dear ~r. Gandhi, 

Yours sillcerriy, 
M. K. Gandhi 

Bihar Governor's Camp, 
Patna, 

14th April 1947. 

The attached message from H. E. thc Viceroy to your­
self camf' by telegram last night. If you wish to send a reply 
by letter, I am going by 'plane to Delhi today and can take 
your reply to H. E. the Viceroy with mr if it is ~l'nt to me 
<it Government House, Patna, by 11 a. m. thi~ mnrning. 

[ENCLOSURE TO THE ABOVE] 
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Yours sincerely, 
Crofton 

PRIVATE AND PERS0NAL MESSAGE FROM HIS EXC~:LLENCY 

THE VICEROY TO MR. GANDHI 

. I so much enjoyed our talk,; during thc pa.<;t ten days 
arid hope you have had a good journey. 

Mr. Jinnah is perfectly ready to sign statement deploring 
acts of Violence etc. whkh you signcd bcfore you left Ddhi 
provided that your and h;s signatures are the only ones that 
appear on the document. As you mentioned that you thought 
Mr. Kripalani's signaturc might also be added, though I 
gathered that you did not make this a stipulation, I am 
not issuing statemcnt until I hear from you. Pandit Nehru 
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is agreeable to leaving matter to my discreticm, but I feel I 
must have your views. Unless statement bears your signature 
alone Mr. Jinnah will not sign. May I therefore appeal to 
you to agree. Please reply urgently. 
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Dear, Mr. Crofton, 

Patna, 
14th April 1947. 

Many thanks for your offer. But it would be perhap~ 
quicker if you wIll kindly send the enclosed message by Wlre. 

H. E. Viceroy, 

[ENCLOSURE TO THE ABOVE] 
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Yours sincerely, 
M. K. GandhI 

Patna, 
14th- April. 

Just receIved mec;sage. Many thanks. I had compara­
tively quiet Journey. Am of opinion PrC~ld('flt Congre~s should 
also sign. You should know reason for exclusion Presidem 
Congress. However I leave final decmon you and Pandi1Jl. 

Gandhi 

360 
IMMEDIATE 

Code telegram No. 812-S, dated 15th Apnl, 1947. 
From - Viceroy, New Ddhi. 
To - Bihar, Patna. 

"Plea~e pass the following to Mr. Gandhi fr')m the 
Viceroy. 

Begins: 
I am glad to inform you that Pandit Nehru also a~reed 

to leave the decision to me. I consider it c;o vital that the 
appeal should issue that I thought it best that it should 
go out over the signatures only of yourself and Mr. Jinnah. 
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2. Mr. Jinnah has now signed, and a communique is 
being immerliate1y released. 

Ends. " Vict"roy 

[THE FOLLOWING IS THE TEXT OF GANDHI-JINNAH 

PEACE APPEAL.] 

We dt"eply deplore tht" recent acts of lawle3sness :md 
vioknce that have brought the ulmo3t dis~ract" on the fair 
name of India and the greatest misery to the innocent people 
irrespective of who were the' aggressors and who were the 
victims. 

We dt'nounce for all timt' the usc of fore/" to achieve 
political ends and we call upon all the (,oli1munitie~ of India, 
to whatt"ver persua~ion they may belong, not vnly to refrain 
from all acts of violence and disorder, but also to avoid both 
in speech and writing, any incitement to such ;:~t<;. 

M. A. Jinnah M. K. Gandhi 
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Dear Friend, 

On the train to Patna, 
8th May 1947. 

It strikes me that I should summarise what I said ao,l 
wantl~d to say and left unfinished for want of time, at our 
last Sunday's meeting. 

I 
Whatever may be said to the contrary, it would be a 

blunder of first magnitude for the Briti:;h to be party in any 
way whatsol:vcr to tLl' division of India. If it has to come, 
I( t it come after the British withdrawal, as a result of under­
sta'llding bclwcen the parties or l cfl an armed conflict which 
according to QU~tid-i-Azam Jinnah is taboo. Protection of 
minorities can be guaranteed by establishing a court of arbi­
tration"in thc event of difference of opinion among contending 
partie~. 

2. Meantimc the Interim Government should be com­
posed either of Con::;-res'imcn or those whose names the 
Congress choo,('s or of :Muslim League men or those whom 
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the League chooses. The dual control of today, laf:king team 
work and team spirit, is harmful for the countr,'. The partie~ 
exhaust themselves in the effort to retain their seat and to 
placate you. Want of team spirit demoralises the Govern­
ment and imperils the integrity of the services so essential 
for good and efficient Government. 

3. Referendum at this stage in the Frontier (or a~y Pro­
vince for that matter) is a dangerous thing in i tself. You 
have to deal with the material that faces you. In any case 
nothing should or can be done over Dr. Khan Saheb's hedd 
as Premier. Note th~t this paragraph is relevant only If 
division is at all to be C')untenanced. 

4. I feel sure that partition of the Punjab and J>en~al 
is wrong in every ca,e and a needless irritant for the League. 
This as well as all innovation can corne after the Britisa WIth­
drawal not .hefore, excepL always for mutual agrC'cment. 
Whilst the British power is functioning in India, it mtl~1t be 
held principally responsible for the preservation or p<'ace in 
th(' country. That machine' ~('C'mq to be cracking undtl the 
existing strain which is caused by the raising of V.lflOu~ hopp~ 
that cannot or mmt not be fulfilled. These hav~ no place 
during the remaininti thirt('cn monthq. This period can be 
most profitably shortened if the minds of all were focussed 
on th(' sole task of withdrawal. You and you alone can 
do it to the exclusion of all other actlvlt y so fdr aq the' 
British occupation iq concerned. 

5. Your task as undisputC'd maqter of naval warfa,.e, 
great as it was, was nothing compared to what you are called 
to do now. The single-mindedn('ss and clarity thd.t gave you 
succeS5 are much mor(' required in this work. 

6. If you are not to kave a legacy of ch~o~ behind, you 
have to make your choice and leave the Government of the 
whole of India including the States to one party. The Consti­
tuent As'!embly has to provide for t:1e governance even of 
that part of India which is not represented by the 
Muslim League or some States. 

7. Non-pax tit ion of the Punjab and Bengal does not mCJ.n 
that the minorities in these Provinces are to be neglected. 
In both the Provine('s they are large and powerful enough to 
arrest and demand attention. If the p~pular GoV'ernments 
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cannot placate them the Governors should during the intrr­
regnum activdy interfere. 

8. The intransmis~ihility of paramountcy is a VIClOU~ 
doctrine, if it means that they [thr· Statt's] can become sove­
reign and a menace for Independent India. All the power 
wherever exercised by the British in India mllst automati­
cally descend to the successor. Thus the people of the ')tates 
beC(1me as much part of Independent India as the people 
of British India. The present Princes arc puppets created or 
tolerated for the upke('p and pr('~tige of the British pow('r. 
The unchecked powers exercised by them over their p('ople 
if, probably the worst blot on the Bntish Crown. The PrinC't"s 
under the new regime can ext'rci~e only such powl'rs a~ 
trustees can and as can be given to them by t11(' Comlilucnt 
Assembly. It follows that they cannot maintain private armies 
or arms factories. Such ability and st,ltescraft: as they possess 
lllmt be at th(~ disposal of the Rt'public aml must be U'>ed 
for the good of their p('ople and the pcopk a~ a wh01e. I 
hav(~ ~erely stated what should be done with the Stall'S. 
It is not for me 10 show in this letter how thi~ C,lli be dOllC'. 

9. Similarly difficult but not so b,tffiing is the qu('~ti()n 

of tIle Civil ServicC'. 1 b members should be Ll1Ight from now 
to accommodatf' thf'lmdves to the new H'?;ime. Thf'y nuy 
not be partisans taking ~idl's. The ~Iight,,,,t trNT uf com­
mun<di~m among them should be severely dealt with. Tht· 
English clement in it should know that they owc loyalty to 
lhe Ht'W regime rather than to the old and thercfi)f(' to Great 
Britain. The habit of regarding tllem~clves as rult f'i and th("I'('­
fore superiors must give place to the spirit of true servicc' of 
the people. 

II 
• 10. I had a very pleasant two' hOllrs <mel thlee quarter,> 

with Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah on Tue ... day last. We talked about 
the joint statement on non-violence. He was agreeably em­
phatic over his belief in non-violence. He has reiterated it 
in the Press statement which was drafted by him. 

11. We did talk about Pakistan cum partition. I told 
him that my opposition to Pakistan persi'lted as before and 
suggested that in view of his declaration of faith in non-violence 
he should try to convert his opponents by reasoning with them 
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and not by show of force. He was, however) quite firm that 
the question of Pakistan was not open to discussion. Logi­
cally, for a believer in non-violence, nothing, not evell the 
existence of God could be outside its scope. 

Rajkumari Amrit Kaur saw the first eigh~ para~rapb~, 
the purport of which she was to give to Pandit Nehru with 
whom I was to send you thi, letter. But, I could not fimsh 
it in New Delhi. I finished it on the train. 

I hope you and Her Excellency are enjoying your hard­
earned rest. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
Simla. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
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Yours sincerdy, 
M. K. Gandhi 

Viceregal .Lodge, 
SImla, 

11th May 1947. 

Thank you for your letter of the 8th May and for tilt 

advice you were kind enough to send me, which I appre­
{:iated receiving. 
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URGENT 

Dear Friend, 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

New Delhi, 
27/28th June 1947. 

I sent you a note in the aft::rnoon. 1 Th(" time after 
the evening prayer and walk I wish to devote to t:llking to 
you on certain matters I was able to touch but could not 
develop when we met. 

I told the Parli,lmentary Delegation that heralded the 
Cabinet Mis<;ion ,mel the Cabinet Mission itself that they had 

1. See Jetter No. 385. 
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to choose between the two parties or even three. They were 
doomed to fail, if they tried to please all, holding them all 
to be in the right. I had hoped that you were bravdy and 
honestly trying to extricate yourself from the impossible posi­
tion. But my eyes were opened when, if I understood you 
correctly, you said that Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah and th<' Lt'agut' 
members were equally in the right with the Congress mem­
bers and that possibly Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah wa" more so. I 
suggested that this is not humanly possible. One must be 

,wholly right .in the comparative sense. You have to make 
your choice at this very critical stage in the history or this 
country. If you think that Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah is, on the 
wbole, more correct and more reasonable than the Congr("ss, 
you should choose the League as your advi~l'r~ and in ail 
matters be frankly and openly guided by them. 

You threw out a hint that Quaid-i-Azam might not be 
able even to let you quit even by 15th August especiaJly if 
th!" Congress members <lid not adopt a hdpful attitude. This 
was fck me a startling statement. I pointed the initial mis­
take of the British being party to splitting India into two. It 
is not possible to undo the mistake. But I hold that it is 
quite possible and necessary nnt to put a premium upon the 
mistake. This does not in any way irnpingl'" upon the very 
admirable doctrine of fairplay. Fairplay demands thM I do 
110t help the mistaken party to fancy that the mistake wa~ 
no mistake but a belated and only a partial discharge of an 
obligation. 

You startled me again by telling me that, if the partition 
had not been made during British occupation, the Hindu~ 
being the major party would have never allowed partition 
and held the Muslims by force undf'r subjection. I told you 
that this was a grave mi"take. The' question of numbers was 
wholly untenable in this conntction. I cited the classic 
example of less than one hundred thousani British soldiers 
holding India under uUer subjection. You saw no analogy 
betwecl'l. the two instances. I suggestl'd the difference was 
only one of degTl"f'. 

I place the following lor your consideration: 
(a) The Congress ha<; solemnly declared that it would 

not hold by force any Province within the Union. 
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(b) It is physically impossible for millions of caste 
ridden Hindus to hold well-knit though fewer 
millions of Muslims under subjection by force. 

(c) It must not be forgotten that Muslim dynasties 
have progressively subjected India by exactly the 
same means as the English conquerors later did. 

(d) Already there has been a movement to win over 
to the Muslim side the so-called scht'duled classes 
and the so-called aboriginal races. 

(e) The caste Hindus who are the bugbear are, it I 

can be shown conclu:;ively, a hopeless minority. 
Of these the armed Rajputs are not yet natio­
nali~ts as a class. The Brahmins and the Banias 
are still untrained in th p use of arm... Their 
supremacy where it exists is purely moral. The 
Sudra~ count, I am s::>rry, more as scheduled 
class than anything else. That <;uch Hindu 
society by reason of its mere superionty in lmm­
bers can crush miHiom of Muslims is an asfuund­
mg myth. 

This should show you why, even if I am alone, I swear 
by non-violence and truth, together standin~ for the highest 
order of courage before which the atom bomb pale'l into 
insignificance, what to say of a fleet of dreadnaughts. 

I have not shown this to any of my friend5. 
If I have mlsunderstood you in any single particular 

you have only to correct me and J shall gladly accept the 
C'orr("ction. If I am obscure anywh('re, I shall try to remove 
the obscurity either by letter or by meeting ,v:cordin~ to 
your wish. 

My anxiety to save you from mi'ltakt's as I see them 
is the 'lole excuse for thi<; letter. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 
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Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

23th June 1947. 

Thank you for your letter of this morning, which I 
have read with much interest. 

I am glad you wrote bf'r.ause after reading your letter 
I feel that almost from first to la<;t I must have failed to make 
i,;kar to you my meaning. I am glad that you have not 
shown your letter to others, since I shouid be very sorry that 
views should be attributed to me which I did not, in fact, 
express. 

I hope you will agree to discuss these matters again at 
our next meeting. 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbattcn of Burma 

The Viceroy's Hou~t". 
New Delhi, 

30th June 1947. 

Pandit Nehru, Sardar Vallabhbhai Patel and I all feel 
that you should unquestionably be shown the Indian Indc~ 
pendence Bill. I therefore invite you to come with them at 
10.00 a. m. tomorrow to see the Bill at the Viceroy's House. 
L hope you will be able to do VJ. 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 



(B) ABOUT REFERENDU\1 IN THE FRONTIER PROVINCE 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's HOllse> 
New Delhi, 

7th June 1947. 

I enclose herewith a copy of a note that I have sent 
to the Viceroy, summarising the sugge~tions that you were 
good enough to put forward in the course of ollr talk yester- ) 
day evening. 

I ve-ry much hope that I have interpnted your vi~ 
rightly, but if you should find any mistakes, I should be so 
glad if you would let me know, in order that I may correct 
the copy that I have given to the VIceroy. 

I so much enjoyed our talk. 

Mahatma Gandhi. 

[ENCLOSURE TO THE ABOVEJ 

1. North- West Frontzer Provznce 

Yours sinc.erely, 
Ismay 

.: 

Mr. Gandhl suggests that H. E. should speak to 
Mr. Jinnah 'n the following seme: 

" I am extremdy anxiom lest the referendum In N\VFP 
should lead to bloodshed and blood feud~ between brother 
and brother Pathan, and I have been wondering whether it 
could possibly be avoided. Now that you have got your 
Pakistan, would it not be wise for you to go to tl}e NWFP 
and speak to the people of the Province of whatever party 
they may be, including 'thf' present Ministry and their 
followers? You could expldin what Pakistan, which has 
hitherto been a vague expression, really is, and present your 
case in an attractive manner, in the hope that you wH1 be 
able to woo them to become a Province of Pakista'n, with 
perfect freedom to frame their own Provincial constitution. 

" If you are successful in your persuasion, the proposed 
referendum and all that it involves would be avoided. If you 
felt disposed to adopt this suggestion, I could, I think, give 
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you a positive assurancc that the Kl-t::m Brnthr-rs and their 
followers would meet you as friend'> and give you an 
attentive hearing." 

Mr. Gandhi asked that if this appral to Mr. Jinnah was 
unsuccessful, he (Mr. Gandhi) might be informed of t11<:: fact, 
in order that he might consider the position again. Mr. Cantlhi 
added that Abdul Ghaffar Kh:m W2.' so anxious ,.buut the 
permanent blood feuds which would result from the referen­
dum, that hc would go to almost any length, consistent with 
honour, to avoid it. In the last resort, he would be prepared 
to advise his brother and hi:.; colleagues in the Ministry to 
resign, and then to ask the Viceroy to put the NWFP under 
Section 93. 

Mr. Gandhi emphasi~ed that he had nut discussed the 
above wjth his colleagues, and therefore that it should not 
be mentionl'd to anyone at this stage. 

2. Bengal and tlte Punjab 

Mr. Gandhi suggested that Mr. Jinnah should be advised 
to try·to win over West Bengal and Eastern Punjab to 
Pakistan by the same methods. 

3. Co-operation Betw~m lllf. Jinnalt and the COllgrf'J f Leaders 

Mr. Gandhi sugg(~sted that H. E, the Viceroy ~h()u!d 
speak in the followin~ sense to Mr. Jinnah, whel1 he found 
him in the right mood to listen: 

"J am here to help b~)th parties to f(~ach agrecm:'nt in any 
way that I can, and I regard this ta,k not only a, it 

pJeamrc, but as a duty. You mu~t rcmem:)cr, however, 
that I cannot, in any event, be here forever. Now, 
therefore that the dt'cision has b(~cn mad(~ and you have 
vour Pakistan, why do you n0t go your'iclf and talk with the 
Congress leaders as fri('nd~, and try. to get a sel.ltcmcnt betw(,en 
y.owrsdves on all the variom pojnts at issue? Thi, would 
make.. for a much better atmo~phcrc than adhering to the 
practice of only meeting together under my chairmanship." 

4 .• Al~reements Between HMG and tlte two Indian Dominiorts 

Mr. Gandhi said tha:: there was a lot of loose talk going 
about that HMG might have different agreements with 
Hindustan and Pakistan which would pos~ibly tt~nd to favour 
one over the other. It W.lS, therefore, important that an 
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announcement should be made to the effect that it was 
HMG's wish either to enter into tri-partite arrangements with 
both the Dominions, or to have identical bi-Iateral agreements 
with each of them : and that, in any event, there would 
be no question of differentiation. 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's House, 
New DelhI, I 

J 0 June 1947. 

Thank you so much for the admirable 'luggc<;tions which 
you handed to Lord Ismay. It i<; quit~ ckar that Mr. Jinnah 
i~ v('ry preoccupied at the present time, OWIng to the ~:Iushm 
League meetings in Delhi, but I wIll, of course, take the 
earlIest opportunity of mentwning- to him the points you 
made. 

I will do my best to convince him, but I hop" ~Ju will 
nut count too much on my Interventwn. 

I think the idea in thf' fourth para!5raph of your note 
i~ a ~ood one, and 1 Will follow it up wIth HMG. Perhaps 
the Prime Minister would give an assurance In debate In 
Parliament. 
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Dear Fnend, 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbattcll of Burma 

j\; sW Delhi, 
lO/11th June 1947. 

The Rajkumari ha<; given me thf purport of your conver­
sation with her. 

Though you have been good enough to tell me- that I 
could see you at any time I wanted to, I must not avail 
my<;elf of the kindness. I would like, however, to reduce to 
writmg some of the things I hold to be necessary for the 
proper and swift working of the scheme. 
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1. As to th(' referendum in the Frontier Province I must 
confess that my idea does not commend itself to Pandit Nehru 
and his colleagues. As I told you, if my proposal did not 
.~ommend itself to them, I would not have the heart to go 
any further with it. 

2. This, however, does not in any way affect my proposal 
that before proceeding with the referendum, you should 
invite Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah to proceed to the Frontier Provi. 

, nee and to woo the Ministers including Badshah Khan and 
• hi., Khudai Khidmatgars who have made the Province what 

it is - better or worse. Before he goes, no doubt, he should 
be assured of a courteous hearing from them. 

3. Whether he favours the idea or not Quaid-i-Azam 
shouB b(' asked to give a fair picture of the Pakistan scheme 
before the simple Pathan mind is asked to mak(' its choice 
of Hindustan or Pakistan. I fancy that the Pathan knows 
his position in Hindustan. If he docs not, the Congress or the 
Constiwent Assembly now at work should be called upon 
to complete the picture. It will be unfair, I apprehend, to 
choose between Hindustan or Pakistan without knowing 
what each i.,. He sllOuld at least know where his entity will 
be fully protected. 

4. There is as yet no peace in the Frontier Province. 
Can there be a true referendum when strife has not completely 
abated? Minds arc too heated to think coherently. Neither 
the Congress nor th(' League call disown liability for distur­
bances by their followers. If peace do('s not reign in the land, 
the whole superstructure will come to pieces and you will, 
in spite of division, leave behind legacy of which you will 
pot be proud. 

5. The sooner you have a homogeneous ministry the 
bl"pt'r. In no case can the League nominees work independently 
of the whole Cabinet. I t is a vicious thing that there is no 
joint responsibility for every act of individual members. 

6. 'Ihe only way to kepp the wonderful time table made 
by you is to anticipate the future and ask your special staff 
t') work out all the items presented by you, without reference 
to the Cabinet and then when the time colnes, the report 
should be presented to the respective parties for acceptance, 
amendment or rejection. 

2'57 
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7. The more I see things the more firmly I believe that 
the States problem presents a variety of difficulties which 
demand very serious and fearless treatment on your part. 

8. The problem of the civil and military services, though 
in a way not equally difficult, demands the same firm handl­
ing as the States. Gurgaon strife is an instance in point. So 
far as I know one single officer is responsible for the continu­
ance of the mischief. 

9. Lastly may I suggest that the attempt to please all 
parties is a fruitless and thankless task. Ir. the course of 
our conversation I suggested that equal praise bestowed 
on both the parties was not meant. No praise would 
have been the right thing. 'Duty will be merit when debt 
becomes a donation'. It is not too late to mend. Your 
undoubted skill as a warrior was never more in demand 
than today. Fancy a sailor without his fleet, save his 
mother wit! 

10. I have tried to bt' a~ succinct as possible. 1 could 
not be briefer. If any of the points raised herein dltnand J. 

personal talk, you have but to appoint the suitauk time. 
Please do not think of calling me for the sake of court~5V. 

11. I received your kind note of 10th instant whilsl I 
had almost finished this note. It does not call for a separ-ttl' 
reply. 

This Wal finished at 9.25 p.m. It will be typed tODlOlWW. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 
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Yours sincerely, 
M. K. GandLi 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Deihi, 

12th June 1947. 
Dear Mr. Gandhi, . 

Thank you for your letter of 10/11 th June. I am grateful 
to you for your comments on current affairs, and I will certain­
ly bear them in mind. 

I doubt whether it would be practicable to make my 
special staff work out all the details of the splitting up of the 
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Departmt'nts of the Government of India and a complete 
allotment of India's assets and liabilities, but they will do 
everything in their power to help. It is a tremendous task 
<lnd only a fraction of it can be done before the transfer of 
power. It is essentially a matter in which there must be 
negotiation between the parties concerned. 

I am so grateful for your unfailing advice and support 
and kindness, which have done so much to sustain me in this 
difficult task. 
1 

Mr. Gandhi. 

My dea", Rajkumari, 
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Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

12th June 1947. 

I received your little note l yesterday morning and imme­
diately hander! the enclosure to my husband. I know he 
has read it with the greatest interest and asks me to send his 
thanks to Gandhiji and to you for passing it on. 

y..j e also discussed what you mention in your letter and 
he asks me to say that he is entirely in agreement that a real, 
honest and friendly attempt should be made amongst the 
leaders themselves in connection with the settlement of 
boundaries of the two Provinces in question. Whether, on the 
othtT hand, we shall be successful, remains to be seen. At 
all costs, I agree, any further bitterness should be avoided. 

I think you may be rest assured that we will both of us 
do what we can to try and bring this home to those people 
who 'still seem inclined to show <l lack of cooperation and 
understanding. 

Sir Evan Jenkins sent us a copy of the letter which he 
had sent ,"OU which I think one will have to accept as a fair 
statement of facts. It is naturally very disillusioning with 
:.0 much distortion of true cases, but in the present circum­
stances I am afraid this has to be expected at times. 

I. Not to be found among Gandhiji's office records. 
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I want you to know how much we win miss you this 
evening and quite understand the reason why you cannot 
be with us. 

With my love, 

Rajkumari Amrit Kaur. 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours affectionately, 
Edwina Mountbatten 

The Viceroy's HousQ, 
New Delhi, 

12th June 1947. 

I spoke to Mr. Jinnah along the lines that you aske-d 
mel and he has authorised me to reply to you as follows. 

2. Mr. Jinnah will gladly accept your suggestion that 
he should visit the Frontier and put the case of Pakistan to 
the leaders and people up there, provided you can obtain 
an undertaking from the Congress that they will not ~ntt:rft"re. 

3. He agrees with your view that by this means a reft"ren­
dum can he avoided and with it the risk of bloodshed removed. 

4. I suggest that you should now communicate directly 
with him in this matter, as I am leaving for Simla to-morrow. 

5. I am sending a copy of this letter to Mr. Jinnah. 
Yours sincerely, 

Mountbatten of Burma 
P. S. I note that you did not obtain the support of the 

Congress leaders to your proposal, but I did promise yO'l 

that whatever happened I would convey your personal 
views to Mr. Jinnah, and he will quite understand if you are 
unable to get the Congress leaders to '1upport you. 
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Dear Friend, 

New Delhi, 
13th June 1947. 

Your two letters of 12th instant were received last night 
for which I thank you. I have sent a letter to Quaid-i-Azam 
Jinnah of which a copy is enclosed herewith. The.> condition 

1. See enclosure to letter No. 366. 
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precedent to the Quaid-i-Azam accepting my suggestion is 
dangerous in its implication. My suggestion is simply what I 
conveyed to you in my letter of 11 th instant. "Before procee­
cling with the referendum you should invite Quaid-i-Azam 
Jinnah to proceed to the Frontier Province to woo the Mini­
sters including Badshah Khan and the Khudai Khidmat­
gars .... " I have added "Before he goes, no doubt, he should 
be assured a courteous hearing from them." The visit, there­
fore, if it takes place will take place for convincing and 
converting the Ministers and Badshah Khan and his Khudai 
Khidmatgars. It should in no sense be a propaganda tour. I 
hope both you and Her Excellency would have a quiet and 
cool week end in Simla. 

H. E. the Viceroy. 

[ENCLOSURE TO THE ABOVE] 
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Dear Quaid-i-Azam, 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

New Delhi. 
13th June 1947. 

His Excellency the Viceroy writes saying that 'you 
will gladly accept my suggestion and put the case of Pakistan 
to the leaders and the people there, provided I can obtain 
an undertaking from the Congress that they will not inter­
fen:'. 

I do not know what you mean by the undertaking from 
the Congress that they will not inte:rf;'re:. 1 

Quaid-i-Azam M. A. Jinnah, 
10, Aurangzcb Road, 
New Delhi. 

-- --- -----

Yours since-rdy, 
M. K. Gandhi 

1. For Jinnah's reply to thIS lctte ' and Gandhiji's rejoind~. see 
Appendix XXVI. 
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Dear Friend, 

New DelhI, 
2B/29th June 1947. 

I have to inflict another letter on you - this time about 
the Frontier referendum. 

Badshah Khan writes to me to say that he is carrying> 
out the plan I had discussed with you and he with Quaid-j: 
Azam Jinnah. The plan was to move for free Pathanistan 
framing its own local constitution and when the Pakistan 
and the Union constitutions were out, to decide either to 
belong to one State or the other. In this move he has failed. 
Therefore the referendum would go on without any intf'rfe­
rence by his followers) the latter abstaining from voting 
either way. He fully realises that in this case the Frontier 
would probably go to Pakistan. l 

He wants me also to draw your attention to the fact that 
Punjab Muslims, men and women, are being freely introduced 
in the Frontier Province to affect the referendum and that 
notable non-Frontier Muslims too have been sent to the 
Frontier Province for the same purpose. This increases the 
risk of bloodshed and worse. 

He also says that the non-Muslim refugees numbering 
many thousands will have no chance, so far as he is aware, 
of taking part in the referendum and they are threatened 
with dire penalty should they dare to exercise the vote. 

I see in today's papers that Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah contends 
that if the Pathans abstain from voting, the abstmtion will 
constitute a breach of tht terms of the referendum. I do not 
set" the force of the t.:olltention. 

Many thanks for your telegram to the Resident' in 
Kashmir.! 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 

1. See letter No. 386. 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

30th June 1947. 

Thank you Vf:ry much for your letter of the 29th June 
about the Frontier. I am glad to hear that the referendum 
will be allowed to proceed without any interferenc(' by the 
followers of Badshah Khan. I am sending a copy of your 
letter to the GQvernor so that h(' may take any action that 

. may be necessary as a result of the points you makt' about 
Pllnjabi Muslims being introduced in the Fromier (0 affect 
tIl" referendum, and non-Muslim re[uget's having no chance 
to ';ote. 

I sent a copy of the letter I wrote to the Maharaja of 
Kashmir to the Resident, as well as to you. 1 My telegram 
in~tructcd him to ask tht' Maharaja for an early reply to 
my letter. .. 
Mr. Gandhi. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
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Yours sincerdy, 
MnHntbatt('n of Burm<l 

The Vicl"roy's House, 
Ncw D"lhi, 

4th July 1947. 

In your lettt'r of 28/29 June to me you said that the 
Referendum on the Frontier would go on without any inter­

oference by the followers of Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan. 
It is reported to mt' from the Frontier that Red Shirts 

are now "persuading" people not. to vote . 
. • I think you will agree that any action of this sort is 

likdv to lead to tht.' very violence you and I are so anxious 
to a~oid. I trust that if the reports are true, in view of the 
policy ~tated in your letter you will be able to persuade Khan 
Abdul Ghaffar Khan to implement that policy. 

Mr. Gandhi. 

1. See enclosure to letter No. 383. 
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Dear Friend, 

Bhangi Colony, 
New Drlhi, 

5th July 19-17. 

I thank you for your letter which came into my hands 
after the evening prayer. 

Agitation is undoubtedly being carried on today by 
Badshah Khan and hi~ lieutenants to tell th(" voters that it 
is wrong for them to take part in the voting. There should 
be no demonstration during the voting days and there should 
be no approach to the voters during the voting time. If thi~ 
is what you mean I shall be glad to refer to the matter in 
those terms at the evening prayt'r. I am quite prepar('(l to 
adopt quicker means of reaching Badshah Khan if YOll 

suggest any. 
If you have any other thing in view, you will please let 

me know. c. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
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Yours sinf'{"rC'ly, 
M. K. Gandhi 

The Viceroy's Hou~e, 
New Delhi, 

5th July 1947. 

I am most grateful to you for your letter of the 5tl-} July, 
and for promising to deprecate demonstl ations and .tpproa­
ches to the voters during the voting days in the NWFP ... 

If you could go a little furtht'r and d("prccate any 
agitation before the po1lin~ days which might lead oirectly 
or indirectly to di~turbancC's, I should naturally be gJate-ful. 

It is important, I think, that Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan 
should have your advice as soon as possible, and if you would 
care to send him a letter, I could arrange to get it delivered to 
Peshawar by hand of pilot, and ask the Gov<'rnor to send it on. 
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I am most grateful for your help. 
J received a telegram yesterday, Friday, from the Resi. 

dent in Kashmir saying that my letters to him and the 
Maharaja had only just been received and that he was ~oing 
to see the Maharaja as soon as he could obtain an interview. 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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Dc;:,r Friend, 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

New Delhi, 
5th July 1947. 

I received your kind letter of even date just after I had 
finished my prayer speech and was going out [or my walk. 
Fortunately about noon I had a visit from a Pathan whom 
1 had IJl10wn to be a Khudai Khidmatgar. He was going to 
Peshawar ann so I gave him the message which I have 
reproducpd in the letter I enclose herewith. You may read 
lhe letter and if you think that it covers the new point you 
have raised, you may send the letter by special mess('nger 
as suggested by you. I am hoping that there will be no dis­
turbance on the part of Badshah Khan and his followers. tn 
the message that I sent through the Pathan Khudai Khid­
mat gar I covered much more ground than mpntioncd in 
my ktter to Badshah Khan. 

I thank you for giving me the purport of the telegram 
received by you from the Resident in Kashmir. 

I hope Her Exct'llency was none the worse for her visit 
t.) the Bhangi Basti . 

. . It is open to you not to send the enclosed if it does not 
Oll"rit your approval. 

H. L. the Yicero)" 
New Delhi. 
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Dear Badshah, 

[ENCLOSURF TO THE FOREGOING] 

380 
Bhangi Colony, 

New Dellli, 
5th July 1947. 

Khudai Khidmatgar Alam Khan ~aw 'llC before 12 
o'clock and he 'laid that he was )Paving for Peshawar tonight. 
I did not send you anv Jetter through him. But I told him 
that there should be no demonstl ation against League Mus­
lims, that it should be enou({h that in the present state of 
tension and misrepresentatIOn KI1Udai Kludmatgars should 
not vote at all one way or the other, th,tt they were enti'led 
so far as internal affairs were concerned to claim and to have 
complete autonomy without any interference from Pakistan 
or the Union and that they could come to a decisio'l as to 
the choice between the U mon or Pakistan when the cnnsti­
tutiom of the two were promulgated and when the Frontier 
Province had fashioned it'! own autonomous constitution. 
Above all every occasion for clash with the Muslim League 
members was to be avoided. Real Pathan bravery was now 
on its trial. It was to be shown by cheerfully meeting blows 
or even meeti11.g death at the hands of the opponents without 
the slightest sort of retaliation. Boycott would certainly 
result in a legal victory for Pakistanis but it would be a 
moral defeat, if without the slighest fear of violence from 
your side, tht> bulk of the Pathans rcframcd in a rlignified' 
manner from participating in the referendum. There should 
be no fuss, no procession, ,n'o'disobcdience of any orders from 
authority. . 

I had acted promptly on receipt of your letter. I wrote 
a long letter to His Excellency on which hc took action. Yon 
must have seen also how I had dealt with the que~tion of 
the Frontier Province in one of my post prayer speechC"<J. 
I send you herewith a copy of my letter to the Viceroy and 
of my post prayer speech. This letter is also in answer to a. 
complaint received by the Viceroy that it was reported th.lt 
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th('re was fear of disturbance to be caused by the Khudai 
Khidmatgars. 

I hope the strain under which you are working is not 
telling upon your health. 

381 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

7th July 1947. 

Thank you for your letter (If 5th July and for the enclo­
sure to AbduL Ghaffar Khan. As thel"r: was no aircraft going 
to Peshawar yesterday (Sunday) I telegraphed the tcxt of 
your letter to the Governor and asked him to pass on the 
message. 

The actual text of your ktter was sent by special messen­
ger by the Frontier Mail yesterday evening. 

:!\Iany thanks for your help. 
My wife enjoyed her visit to the Bhangi Colony so much 

and gave me a most enthusiastic account. 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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My Dear Lady Mountbatten, 

Yours sincerely, 
M0untbatten of Burma 

Bhangi Colony, 
New Delhi, 

11th July 194-7. 

Yours of yesterday I was lying on my table when I 
returned from here at 9.15 la.:>t. evening. 

I have shared its contents with both Gandhiji and 
Pandit Nehru. 

'Ole Congress has never taken any stand other than the 
completest freedom for self-expression and growth - con­
sistent with morality and law and order - for every indivi­
dual and group. The minori.ties need have no fears. You 

1. Not to be found among Gandhijj's office records. 
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will see this from the speeches made in the Constituent 
Assembly, in particular Pandlt Nehru's, and if you have read 
some of the justiciable fundamental rights so fM adopted by 
that body. Gandhiji is alwtl)'S talking about faIr and just 
treatment of all minorities in his post prayer speeches. You 
must have read his utterance of last evening in today's papers. 
It bears out what you would have him say. 

But I do fed very strongly that such unkmd. threats as 
are held out to Nationalist Muslims by Muslim Leaguers 
according to what Mrs. Haider - whom, by the \\ay, I 
know - has told you and what Abdul Qayyum Saheb for 
example is reported to have sald about the trial of "Muslim 
Qui'llings" in the Frontier etc. should be brought to thp notice 
of Mr. Jinnah and he should be asked publicly to denounce 
~uch utterances. I have also heard that Muslim officer,> who 
would inwardly prefer to !>tay m the Indian Union arc told 
they mu~t go to Pakistan or else they will not be conSidered 
Muslims. Congress can never be gUllty of such action. 

With love, • 
Yours affectionately, 

Amrit Kaur 

( c) ABOUT VISIT TO KASHMIR 

383 
The Viceroy's House, 

New Delhi, 
28th June 1947. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 
I am enclosing a copy of the letter whICh I Jlctated 

in your presence yesterday ;md which I am today sending 
off to the Maharaja of Kashmir. 

I enjoyed our interview so much, it is always most 
refreshing hearing your point of view and obtaining the bene-
fit of your advice. « 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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[ENCLUSURE TO THE FOREGOING] 

384 
26th June 1947. 

I am writing to tell Your Highness that I have had a 
talk with both Mahatma Gandhi and Pandit Nehru, who 
are both still anxious to visit Kashmir. I pointed out to 
them that any visit from a big Congress leader in which 
speeches were made could not fail to cause the League to 
send speakers of the order of Mt. Jinnah to counter their pro­
paganda. This would in effect prouuce the electioneering 
atmosphere which you so rightly wish to avoid, since, as you 
pointed out to me, there has been no bloodshed up to date 
and only violent political speeches could now bring about 
the bloodshed. 

Mr. Gandhi tdl~ me that Pandit Nehru is prepared 10 

forgo. his visit if he (Mr. Gandhi) goes instead. 
I am therefore writing this at Mr. Gandhi's request 

(and dictating it in his presence) to suggest that you should 
agree to his visit in tht" near [uture and make things as easy 
as possible for him. 

He has given me his firm assurance that lIe will m~ke no 
political speeches or carry out any form of propaganda. The 
object of his visit would be to see Madame Abdullah; and, 
if you granted permission (but only if you did grant him 
permission), he would like to see Sheikh Abdullah. He would 
like to meet the people in general way, but has no desire to 
address them or to CfJllect large clowds. 

May I suggest that Your Highness or your Primr 
Minister should communirate direct with him to save tim::. 

I am sending Mr. Gandhi a copy of this letter. 

IMMEDIATE 

Dear Friend, 

385 

New Delhi, 
27th June 1947. 

Panditji was with me at noon and I gave him the pur­
port of the conversation about Kashmir and he immediately 
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asked whether the letter you ",-crt' kindly sending to the Maha­
raja Saheb was going by wire or post. I could not give him 
a satisfactory answer and I said it would probably be by 
post. He said the letter would take some days to reach there 
and the reply too might be delayed. I share his anxiety that 
the matter brooks no delay. For him it is one of personal 
honour. I have simply undertaken to replace him to the best 
of my ability. I would like to free him from anxiety in this 
matter. I seek your aid. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 

Dear Mr. GandhI, 

386 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. GandhI 

The VIceroy's House, 
New Delhi, 

28th June .. E147. 

Thank you for your letter of the 27th June. You \\ill, 
I hopt>, by now have received my letter of yesterday's date. 
Your surmIse that my letter to the Maharaja wa~ sent by 
post is correct, since you wIll remember that I dlctated It 
III lcttt'r form. But I am now telegraphing to the ReSIdent 
to ask him to inform the Maharaja of the dt'spatch of my 
letter and its c;ubject. 

Mr. Gandhi. 

387 

Dear Friend, 

Y ouro; sinc('rely, 
Mountbatten of Burm .. 

Bhangi Colony, 
New Ddhi, 

11 th July -1947. 

I am still without any news from Kashmir. I wonder 
if you can remind the Maharaja. If I was not bound by 
any promise made to you, of course I would not want any 
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pennission to go to Kashmir. I would simply go as any 
private person. 

H. E. the Viceroy. 
New Ddhi. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

388 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

The Viceroy's House, 
New Drlhi, 

1 2th July 1947. 

Thank you for your ktter of the II th, which by 
coincidence arrived the same day as the reply from the 
Maharaja of Kashmir which I enclost'. 

rx reiterates the vicw~ he so strongly expressed to me 
when I was in Kashmir and which I pa~sl'd on to you: 
"A tiny spark. in spite of the best intentions in the world, may 
set alight a conflagration which it would be impossible- to 
control." 

As I told you, the Maharaja was strongly ()pposnl to 
any Muslim League leadC'r coming to Kashmir, and 1 had 
a~hd Mr. Jinnah not to go or send anyonf'. 

The Maharaja always told me h(" would mah up his 
mind about joinine one side or the other as soon as he could 

• see what the respectivt' cOllstitutions were going to be like 
and could gauge the feelings of his people. 

I am of course prepared to send any T!'ply you would 
w~sh to the Maharaja, either by 'letter at somt' length or if 
you would prefer it by telegram through the Resident. 

I understood that you contc.-mplated a visit to Noakhali. 
Would you like me to return to the charge and urge acceptance 
of you~ visit immediat('ly after the Noakhali visit, or do you 
feel it is urgent that you should go before 7 

I repeat I place mysf'lf at your service at this moment, 
but feel you may like to discuss the actual wording of the 
reply with me. I will therefore arrange for onc of my Staff 
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to ring up and find out whether you would like to have a 
meeting today or tomorrow. 

Mr. Gandhi. 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

[ENCLOSURE TO THE ~BOVE] 

389 
8th July 1947. 

I write to acknowledge receipt of Your Excellency's 
letter dated 26th June. 

It is true that we have had comparative peace here 
during the recent months and in spite of the fact that massacre 
and arson on an unprecedented ~ccl.le have raged over the 
country there has bC'en no bloodsht"d here. But as I told 
you, thi~ has bem the result of a policy of firmness and im­
partiality which, if I may say so, hdS been the suiding 
principle of the admini~tration in this State. It would, how­
ever, be fooli~h to assume that because we have succeeded 
in so far maintaining peace, amidst the terror raging in tht" 
neighbouring territories, we can in aU circumstances be 
equally successful. The present is a very inopportun(' tim? 
for political lead('rs to come to Kashmir as the position is 
most delicate A tmy spark, in spite of th(' best intentions in 
the world, may set alight a conflagration which it would be 
impossible to control. 

In the circumstances I would &ay that it would be 
advic;abk from all points of view for Mahatma Gandhi to' 
canlcl his projected visit to Kashmir this year. If, however, 
for reasons of his own he is not in a positiun to do so, I 
should still say that hls vi~it should take place only towat'd<; 
the end of th(' autumn. 

I note that he has given you hie; firm assurance that "he 
will make no political speeches or carry out any fprm of 
propaganda" . 

We have no objection whatsoever to his seeing 
Mrs. Abdullah but I am afraid it will not be possible for 
him to see Sheikh Abdullah. Thert" are political considerations 
which render such a meeting most inadvisable. 
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I need hardly say that if Mahatma Gandhi would like 
to stay as my guest during his visit here, I should feel very 
glad. I would, however, again strongly advise that he or any 
other political leader should not visit the State until condi­
tions in India take a happier turn. 

390 

D,'ar Friend, 

Bhangi Colony, 
New Delhi, 

16th July 1947. 

I had a long talk with Panditji about Kashmir. He is 
flrml~, of opinion that I sr.ould go in any case, not minding 
if Quaid-l-Azam Jinnah or his deputy goes aft('r my visit. 
He thinks and I agree that if now my visit is postponed, it 
will disappoint many persons in Kashmir. That I may not 
be allowed to see Sheikh Abdullah Saheb should not affect 
the contemplated visit one way or the other. In the circum­
lltances, I suggest that you should telegraph to the Maharaja 
Saheb that as my vi"it would not mean any speeches or 
public meetings, it should not cause any embarrassment to 
the State and that I should go to Kashmir al the earliest 
possible moment. 

As I have said to you my "ug~estion is subject to your 
'" i~h not to interfere with Panditji's wishes in the matter. If 
for any reason you wish otherwise, I would not go. 

lf I go I would go as a private visitor. Hence I would 
lint think of putting the Maharaja Saheb to any trouble on 
my account. Friends would make arrangements [or my stay. 

Finally I should add that if for any reason, I do not 
go t? Kashmir, most probably Panditji would want to go for 
two or three days, though he would prefer my going. 

. 
H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 

S.G.-18 
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Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

The Viceroy's Hous(:', 
New Delhi, 

17th July 1947. 

Thank you for your letter of the 16th. 
As I told you in our talk, I will entirely agree to any­

thing you want, and offer my services to facilitate your visit. 
I am accordingly telegraphing to the Resident to pass on 
your proposal to visit Kashmir as a private person to the 
Maharaja. 

Since seeing you I have received news that the Maharaja 
is sending his Prime Minister, Kak, to Delhi early next week 
to join the discussions which I am arranging with the States 
Department. I feel it would be both courteous and wise if 
you and Pandit Nehru could have a talk with Panmt Kak 
before deciding on the precise date and details of ";~ur visit, 
as I personally rather fear that a visit of a man of ~uch 
world·wide eminence as yourself can never be kept suffici­
ently private not to have some effect on the rather delicate 
negotiations which I hope to conduct during that week. 

The last thing, however, I wish to do is to interfere in 
any way with your liberty of movement; I only want to 
counsel a few more days' patience. . 

Mr. Gandhi. 

392 

Dear Friend, 

y our~ very sinccrdy, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Bhan~i Colony 
New Delhi 

19th July 194-7. 

I ~t'nt your kind letter of yt'sterday to Pandit Nehru and 
he at once wrote saying that r::-gard being had to your advice, 
my going to Kashmir should be postponed till after Pandit 
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Kak's arrival in New Delhi. So I shall await Pandit Kak's 
arrival and further developments. 

H. E. the Viceroy, 
New Delhi. 

Dear Friend, 

393 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

New Delhi, 
28th July 1917. 

It is my silence day. Hence this infliction in the shape 
of my hand-writing. 

Pandit Nehru told me last night that as there were 
hitches about my going to Kashmir, he had decided to go even 
if only for two or three days. Thus I am now free to go to 
Bihar and thence to Noakhali. Before doing so, I might go for 
two days to the Punjab. I should like to leave Delhi tomorrow. 
You war:ted me to see you bt"fore leaving. If the need is still 
f('it, I am at your disposal tomorrow. You will then name the 
hour. 

May I say I deeply appreciated your wish to go to an 
unpretentious house as the chosen Governor-Gen"ral of the 
millions of the half-famished villagers of the nation. I hup(" 
it ~ill be po~sible to carry out the wishes. 

Youn sinc('rcly, 
M. K. Gandhi 

H. E. The Viceroy. 

Dear Mr. Gandhi, 

394 
The Viceroy's House, 

New Delhi, 
28th July 1947. 

Thazi:k you for your btter of the 28th July. 
Pandit Kak told me he had given you his reasons why 

the Kashmir Government ",ere so very anxious not to have 
the visit from a political leader, which might result in the 
spread of violence from the Punjab border. 
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He told me after seeing you that although he feared even 
a visit from you might provoke violence, the fact that you 
were known to preach non-violence would reduce the risk 
in your case to less than half the risk if Pandit Nehru came. 

The last thing he asked me to tell you was that if you 
felt it was essential that either you or Pandit Nehru should 
go, then he would greatly prefer a visit from you, particularly 
as the papers had already announced your visit and the 
public were mentally prepared for it. 

May I therefore urge that you should suggest to Pandit 
Nehru that your visit at this moment would be better than 
a visit from him; for I really do not know how the future 
Prime Minister can be spared from Delhi with only 18 days 
left for him to take over power. I 

Mr. Gandhi. 

Yours sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

I. In the end it was DOt Pandit Nehru but Gandhiji who went to 
Kashmir. (See Ma/ra.tma o-un -Tlu Last PINs" Vol. II, Page 354) 
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XII 
INDEPENDENCE EVE AND AFTER 

395 

Dear Friend, 

Sodepur, 
11 th August 1947. 

What you could not do, a big Muslim deputation was 
able to do yesterday. And so, I am here at least till tomorrow. 
Man is veritably clay in the hands of the great Potter. 

All my good wishes with you and yours. 

(Sir Fre~erick Burrows) 
H. E. the Governor, 
Calcutta. 

My dear Gandhiji, 

396 

Yours sincerely,. 
M. K. Gandhi 

Government House~ 
New Delhi, 

26th August 1947. 

In the Punjab we have 55 thousand soldiers and large 
s~ale rioting on our hands. In Bengal our forces consist of 
one man, and there is no rioting. 

As a serving officer, as well as an administrator, may J 
be .aJlowed to pay my tribute to the One Man Boundary 
Force, not forgetting his Second in Command, Mr. Suhra­
wardy. 

You ,should have heard the enthusiastic applause which 
greeted the mention of your name in the Constituent Assembly 
on the 15th of August when all of us were thinking so much 
of you. 

Edwina has gone off today on a courageous mission to 
the Punjab with Rajkumari Amrit Kaur, to see what they 

277 



can do to help relieve the' suffering and distr~ss among the 
refugees. 

Mr. Gandhi. 

397 

Dear Friend, 

Yours very sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Calcutta, 
30th August 1947. 

Many thanks for your letter which His EXCf'llency thl" 

Governor sent mc yesterday afternoon. I do not know if 
Shaheed Saheb and I can legitimately appropriate lhe compli­
ment you pay us. Probably suitable conditions were ready 
for us to take the credit for what appears to have been a 
magical performance. 

Am I right in gath~ring from your letter that you would 
like me to try the same thing for the Punjab? I am itl corrco;­
pondence with the Pandit and the Sardar. 

I hope your new office is not unduly more arduous than 
as Viceroy. 

It filled me with joy when I read in the papers :hat 
Lady Mountbatten had flown to the Punjab. I hope she is 
none the worse for the trying visit. 

Vours sinceldy, 
M. K. Gandhi 

H. E. the Lord Mountbatten of Burma, 
Government House, 
New Delhi. 
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My dear Gandhiji, 

11, Old Sq~are, 
Lincoln's Inn W. C. 2, 

17th September 1947 . . 
This comes to bring you an good wishes for your birthday 

from my wife and myself. 
How much has happened since we celebrated it last 

year! 

278 



Neither you nor I am of course fully satisfied with the 
final outconle. But international progress like true love neyer 
runs quite smoothly a.nd what has been won is infinitely 
g-reater than what has been lost. 

We have of course followed your personal doings with 
absorbing interest. I devoutly hope that the r('cent tragic 
('vents though they remain a scar on the fair face of India 
will not continue a'> a running sore. 

399 

My dear Mahatma, 

Ever !>incercly yours, 
Pethick-La wrence 

Cabinet Offic(" 
Great George Str('et, S. \V. 1, 

1st Octoher 194i. 

I have purposely refrained from writing to you in the 
most aaxious and peri lOlls times through which you and 
your country - or your two countries! - have' bcc'n passing. 
But I feel now tllat I must express to you my admiralion 
for the splendid work that you have done. All your lril:'nds 
in this country - and they are maIlY - admire i~rcatly the 
determined way in which YOIl have set out to Lonrluer the 
evil by good. It has been a great inspiration for all of us who 
ha~re ~he good of: India at heart. We have been made so sad 
at aU that has happened and we are only to:) conscious of the 
part that the past history has played in the pres('nt di"contents. 

I pray that you may be given the strength to pfr~evere 
"and that by your ('xample the evil spirit of communal faction 
\vill die down so that India and Pakistan may resume their 
progress towards what I still hope ,may one day be the goal 
of'lmity. 

Isobel asks me particubrlv to ~cnd you her most affecti­
onate greetings. 
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My dear Friend, 

Govenlment House, 
New Delhi, 

2nd October ) 947. 

I am writing on behalf of my wift", my daughter Pamt"la 
and myself to send you our warmest congratulations on 
your 78th Birthday, and to wish you continued long life 
and health to enable you to carryon with your wonderful 
work for the India we all love. 

You hold unique position both in the eyes of the world 
as a whole and in the hearts and affection of the Indian 
peoples. Never has your gospel of nnn-violence been more 
needed than it is now. Long may you be sparerl to spread it. 

Our affectionate good wishes go out to you on this day. 

Mr. Gandhi. 
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My dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours very sincerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Government House, 
New Delhi, 

2nd October 1947. 

May I join the chorus of congratulations and good 
wishes that will reach you today from all over the \\orld, 
and in the prayer that you may long be spared to lead UI 

all along the path of peace and brotherhood. 
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Dear Friend, 

Yours sincel'C friend, 
Ismay 

Birla House, 
Ne~ Delhi, 

23rd October 1947. 

I have spoken to Pandit Nehru. But he is adamant. 
He is firmly of opinion that no change should be made until 
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the weather has cleared.! If it does, it may take two or 
three months. In this estimate I agree with him. 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

H. E. the Lord Mountbatten of Burma, 
Government House, 
New Delhi. 

My dear Friend, 

403 
Government House, 

New Delhi, 
2.'}th October 1947. 

Thank you so much for your letter of the 23rd. I should 
like to speak about this to you at your convenience next week, 
and will get my staff to make an appointment, on Tuesday 
or Wednesday, if that would suit you. 

• • 

Mahatma Gandhi. 
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My dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours very smcerely, 
Mountbatten of Burma 

Government House, 
New Dt"lhi, 

1 7 th November 1947. 

I wonder if I might come and see you for a talk one 
day this week - probably before Thursday the 20th? I 
confess that I have nothing partic~lar to discuss, but I always 
~etive pleasure and profit from a chat with you. 

Yours Vf'ry sincerely, 
Ismay 

1. For thjs as well as the next letter, see Foreword, p"ge v. 
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Dear Lord Ismay, 

Birla House, 
New Delhi, 

17th November 1947. 

Will 3 p.m. on Wednesday next suit you? If you would 
prefer any other time, please tell me. 

While I shall be glad to welcome you wher~ I am staying 
please be ~ure that I could as easily come to you. You shall 
decide. 

406 

My dear Mr. Gandhi, 

Yours sincerely, 
M. K. Gandhi 

Government fIousC', 
New Delhi, 

18th November l!:l47. 

Thank you so much for your note. 3 p. m. on Wednes­
day, the 19 Novl"mber will suit me splendidly, and I will be 
at your hou',e punctually at that hour. 
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APPENDIX I 

GANDHIJI'S INTERVIEW WITH STUART GELDER 

(4th July 1944) 

I saw Mr. Gandhi on the 4th of July at Panchgani. I told him, "My 
editoc is anxious to hc:lp in solving the political deadlock in India. I went 

to Delhi and I was disappointed. I hope ~ou will not disappoint m('." 
I askt'd him, "Supposing you saw Lord Wavell, how would you bt'gin 
the talk? What would you say to him?" He promptly replir-d that he 
would tdl the Viceroy that ht' had sought the intt'rview with a view to 
help and not to hinder the Allies and it was to this end hI" had ask(,(j foc 

permission to Sl'"e the members of the Congress Working Committee. 
He said, he felt he had no authority to act in the nam!" of the C()l1~ress. 

,According to the eanom of Satyagraha, whl'l1 a civil rl'sister was impri­
~oned, the authority vested in him automatically came to an end. Hene\"' 
th('" Ilo:'<td for him to see tho:' mc>moers of the Walking Committc(". 1 said, 
" The Viceroy might feel that as you ·wear by (ht' August resolution, and 
Ly thl'" wC"apon of Civil Disobr'dience, ynur meeting the Working Committee 
membet"!\ may only re~ult in their reinvesting you with authority to carry 
on Civil Disobe"dif"nce in the name of the- C,..,ngress and thl' rl'sult will be 
that when you come out of the intl'"cview you will hold the pistol at the 
Vie .. ro)'s head and say, 'Do this or I start Civil Disobedl(·nce'. That 
I/o'ould make things worse than they are today." 

Mr. Gandhi replied, "At the back of thal is the ulter distrust of 
my proft':SSion that I am and have alv.ays bef-n a friend of the British. There­
fore I could never use the weapon of Civil Disobedience during the war 
unless there was a very grave reason, as for iostan::e the thwarting of 
India's natural right to freedom." 

:My next question was, "SUpposiJlp'" the Working Committee was let 
out of the jail tomorrow, and the (.ovenuncnt rl'"fused to give India what 
they wanted, would you start Civil Disobedience?" 

Mr. Gandhi replk-rl that if the Working Committee came out they 
would ,take stock of the siluation and discuss things among thetosdves 
and with me. I can teU you this that I have no intention of offering Civil 
Disobedience today. I cannot take the country back to 1942. History 
can never be repeated. Even without the authority of the Congres!, if 
I wantt'd to do it, I could staTt. Civil Disobedience today on the strellgth 
of my supposed inftuence with the masses. But I would be doing SO merdy 
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to embarrass the British Govemmt"ut. This cannot be my object. But the 

Working Committee would not sit still while the people are suffering. It 

is my conviction that we cannot improve the food situation and alle\';ate 
the suffering of the people unless power and responsibility are tranrferred 
from the British into Indian hands. Without !ouch a transfer the attempt 
of Congressmen and others to alleviate the people's sufferings are most 
likely to lead to conflicts WIth the Government." 

I mterrupted and said, "With things as they are, I canilot believe 
that they will transfer authority now. The Government will never concede 

the demand for independence while the war is on." 

Mr. Gandhi replied that there Wa3 a dlfT('r('nce between what h(' would 

ask today and what was asked in 1942. Today v.e would be sati~fied WIth 
a National Government in full control of civil administration. I~ wa~ not 
so in 1942. Such a Government would be composed of persons chosen 
by the elected members of the Central Assembly. This would mean 
declaration of independence of India qualified as above during the war. 

I thought this was a great improvement on the 1942 position. I asked 
him if the military would control the railways and the ports eV:. Mr. 
Gandhi replied that the National Government wOllld let the military have 
all the facilities that the military might require. But the control would be 
that of the National Governmen t. Ordinance rule would give place to normal 
adminllltration by the National Government. 

"Will the Viceroy be there?" I asked. 

"Yes, but he will, like the King of England, be guided by the r~pon­
sible ministers. Popular Governments will be automaHcaily restored iii 
all the Provinces, so that both the Provincial and Central Governments 
will be responsible to the people of India. So far as milItary operations are 
concerned, the Viceroy and the Commander-in-Chief will have complete • 
control. But it must be possible for the National Government to offer 
advice and critici,m even in military matters. Thus the portfolio of defence 
would be in the hands of the Nlltional Government which would be 
genuinely interested in the defence of the country and might render great· 
assistance in the shaping of policies. The Alli~ forces would be allowed to 
carryon their operations on Indian soil. I realise that they cannot defeat 
Japan without that. Mr. Gandhi made it clear that the expenses' of the 
Allied operations on the Indian soil should not be borne hy India. 

"If a National Government is formed, would you advise the 
Congress to participate in it?" I asked. 

Mr. Gandhi replied in the affirmative. 
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.. So it means that if a National Government is formed, the Congress 
will join and belp the war effort? What would be your position?" I asked. 

" I am a lover of l'cace through and through. After indept'ndence 

was assured, I would probably cease to function as adviser- to the Congress. 

As an all-war resister I would have to stand aside, but I shall not offer 

any resistance against the National Government or the Congress. My 
cooperation will be abstention from interfering with th(' evcn tenor of 

life in India. I shall work in the hope that my influcllce will always be felt 

to keep India peace-minded and so to afl"ect the world policy towards 

real peace and brotherhood among all without distinction of race and 

colour." 

" Supposing there is conflict between the civil and military authority, 

how will the dispute be settled? Hfor example, the civil authorities wanted 

to usc a railway to carry two thousand tons of food and the military 
authorities wanted it for carrying ammunition, what will you advise?" 

I next asked. 

Mr. Gandhi replied, "As I said before, I would not have to advibf: 

on such matters. But supposmg I had, I can conceive the necessity of allow­
ing pre~edence to the military. But supposinv, the military wanted to blow 

off places or practl'c manoeuvres in disregdrd of the lives of the people, 
I would say, 'hands off'. The thing is that with mutual trust such 
difficulties would not arise, and if they rlid, they would be easily adjusted. 

If there is no trust it cannot work. I canllot work for ~llil'd victory with­
out trust. If they trust us a settlement will be easy to achieve. Fr('edom 

for India will bring hope to Asiatic and other exploited nations. Today 

ttere is no hope (or the Negroes. But Indian freedom will fill them with 

hope. " 

Finally I asked: "What about Hindu-Muslim diffcrt:'nces?" 

Mr. Gandhi repli("d, "If the British meant well, ther(" would be- no 

difficulty, bllt," said Mr. Gandhi in conclusion, "most of us believe that 
whatever the Viceroy may wi$h person.ally, he has no authority in the 

p(~itical ~ph('re. Mr. Churchill does not want a settlement. He wants to 
~rush me, if he has been correctly reported. He has never dt'nieri the report. 
The beauty of it fur me, the pity of it for him, is that no one can crush a 
Satyagrjlhi. For, he offers the body as a willing sacrifice and thus makes 

the spirit free." 
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APPENDIX II 

LORD MUNSTER'S SPEECH IN THE HOUSE OF LORDS ON 
GELDER INTERVIEW 

"What I already said," Lord Munster continued, .. is by no means 

the end of the tale, for directly after the pUblication of the scheme (C. R. 
Formula-Ed.) there appeared a series of statements in the Press which 
were attributed to Mr. Gandhi. The more important of these statements 
contained seven points, and was issued after the publication in the News 
Chronicle of an interview which Mr. Gandhi had given to one of its Press 
correspondents. Indeed, Mr. Gandhi stated, himself, that the premature 
publication of the interview with Mr Gelder, the New! Chronicle representa­
tive, had led to some confusion in the minds of the Congress and therefore 
Mr. Gandhi had advanced the following views: Firstly, Mr. Gandhi 
said, he would n("Ver USI" the weapon of Civil Disobedience dUling the 
war unless for a very grave reason, suc.h as, the thwartmg of India'. right 
to freedom. Secondly, he would be satisfied with a Nation,!1 Government 
during the war, with f'll1 control of th(· civil administratlOn, comp~sed of 
persons chosen by the elected members of the Legislative A<;scm/Jly. 
Thirdly, the Viceroy would be, lIke the King of England, gUided by respon­
Sible Ministers. Fourthly, Popular Government would Ix- automaticallY 
restored in all provinces, that is, provinces at the moment under Seetiol' 
93. }.'Ifthly, whilr under National Government, the Vlcnoy and tht· 
Commandrr-in-Chief would have complete control of milItary operations, 
there would be a portfolio of Defence in the hands of the National Govl"rJ­
ment, which would be genuinely interested in the deft'nce of the country 
and may render grrat assistauce in the shapm~ of policies. Sixthly, the 
Allied forces would be allowed to c.ury on operations on Indian soil, but • 
the expense of such operations would not be borne by IndIal)s. Seven­
thly, Mr. Gandhi would advise Congress participation in the National 
Government "if formed". 

Lortl Munster, proceeding, said: "The procedure followed is a little' 
complicated and a little difficult to understand. A few days after Mr. 
Gandhi published these seven suggestioDS through th .. mtermediary of the 
Press, he gave further explanations to Press correspondents, in Which he 
emphal.ised that his statements constituted his personal effort to end the 
deadlock, but that if his suggestions are not acceptable to Mr. Jmnah or 
the powers that be, he would consider it a most unfortunate incident. 
In darification - if indeed it be clarification - of his offer to Mr. Jinnah, 
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he stated that his proposals were wholly difft'r('nt from the Cripps Olff'r 

which, he insisted, contemplated almost perpetual \'ivisection of India. 
Frankly, it is difficult to understand if these statcm!"nts by Mr. Gandhi 
haVI" in point of fact, definitely improved the chancc.s of an in terconununal 

settlement. " 
.. The main point, so far as His Majesty" Government are concerned," 

Lord Munster declared, .. is that he (Mr. Gandhi) is still chnging to preci. 
sely that claim which wrecked the Cripps Mission and put an end to the 
negotiations in April 1942, for he is no more preparffi today than hI" was 
then, to accept the formation of an Interim Government with thl" Viceroy 
maintaining his existing reserve powers. He demand. a so-callNl • Interim' 
Government in full control of the civil administration, with the Vicl"roy 
orcupying the position of a constitutional 1l1onarch as we understand it 
in this country. Let it not be forgotten that, If an agreement is set up 
under the pr("sent existing constitution there arc still a number of very 
important qu!"sti:>n~, not the least of which is th!" prot!"ctionyftbe minoritil"8 
to bt- resolved. All th!"se matters must be settled before the final constitu­
tion can be evolved. In thi~. it will seem that Government have not departed 
one iott from the pledge th!"y gave som!" time ago and which I will repl"at 
now, that tbe proposals which were taken to India by SIT Stafford Cripp~ 
still stand in their I"ntil ery." 
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APPENDIX III 

LORD WAVELL'S BROADCAST 

(14th June 1945) 

I have been authorised by His Majesty's Government to place before 

Indian political If"aders proposals designed to ease the present political 

situation and to advance India towards her goal of full self-government. 
These proposals are at the present moment being explained to Parliament 

by the Secretary of State for India. My intention in this broadcnst is to 

explain to vou the proposals, the ideas underlying them and the method 
by which I hope to put them into effect. 

This is not an attempt to obtain or impose a constitutional settle­
mcnt. His Majesty's Government had hoped that the leadt'rs of the Indian 

parties would agree amongst themselves on a settlement of the communal 

issue, which is the main stumbling block, but this hope has not been 

fulfilled. .. 
In the ml"antime, India has great opportunities to be taken and great 

problems to be solved, which require a common effort by the leading 

men of all parties. 
I therefore propose, with the full support of His Majesty's Govern· 

ment, to invite Indian leaders both of Central and Provincial politic~ to 

take counsd with me with a view to the formation of a new Executive 

Council more representative of organised political opinion. 
• • The proposed new Council would represt'nt the mam communities 

and would include e'"lual proportions of Castl" Hindus and Moslems. It 
would work, if formed, under the existing comtitutlOn. But It would be 
an entirely Indian Council, except for the Viceroy and the Commander­

in-Chief, who would retain his position as War Member It j~ also pro­
posed that the portfolio of External Affairs, which hM hitherto b"en held 
by the Viceroy, should be placed in charge of an Indian member ,of 

Council, so far as the interests of British India are concerned. 
A further step proposed by His Majesty' 3 Government is the appoint­

ment of a British High Commissioner in India, as in the Dominions, to 
represent Great Britain's commercial and other such interests i~ India. 

Such a new Executive Council will, you realise, represent a definite 
advance on the road to self-government. It will be also entirely Indian, 
and the Finance and Home Members will for the first time be Indians, 

while an Indian will also be charged with the management of India's 
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forei~ affam; moreover memben will now be selected bv the Governor­
Gene-ral after cor.sultation with political leaden; though their appoint­

me-nt will of course, be subject to approval of His Majesty the King 

Emperor. 

The Council will work within the framework t)f the present consti­

tution; and there can be no question of the Governor-General agreeing 
not to exercise his constitutional power of control; but it will of coune 

not be exercised unreasonably. 

I should make it clear that the formation of this Interim Government 
'Will in no way prejudict' the final constitutional st'ttlement 

The main ta~ks for this new Executive Council would be : Fintly, 
to prosecute the war against Japan with the utmost t'nergy till Japan is 

utterly defeated. Secondly, to carryon the Government of British India, 
with all the manifold tasks of post-war dt'velopment in front of it, until 
a nt'w permanent constitution can be agrct'd upou and comt" into force. 

Thirdly, to comider, when the members of the Government think it possible, 

the means by which such agreement can be aC'hieved. 

The .hird task is most important. I want to make it quite clear that 
neither I nor fhs Maj('~t)"s Government hav(" JO'\t si~ht of the ne.-ro for 

a long term solution, and that the present proposals arc' intended to make 
a long term solution ea.,ier. 

I have considered the best me.-ans of forming such il council and have 

decidt'd to invite the following to Viceregal Lodge to advise me : 

Tho~e now holding office as Premier in a Provincial government; 
or,.for Provinces now under Se.-ction 93 Government, those who la.t 

hdd the office of Premier 

The Leader of the Congress Party and the Deputy Leader of the 

!o'fusJim League in the Central Assembly; the leaden of the Congres. 
Party and the Muslim Lt'ague in the Council of State; also th(' leaden 
0.- the Nationalist Party and the European group in the Anembly. 

Mr. Gandhi and Mr. Jinnah as the recognised leaden of the two 

main political parties. 

Rao B:iliadur N. Shiva Raj to represent the scheduled classes. 

Master Tara Singh to reopresent the Sikhs. 

Invitations to these g('ntlt"men are being handed to them today and 

,t is pr:>posed to assemble the conference on 25th June at Simla wbt"re 
w'! shall be.- coolC"r than at DelhI. 

I trust that all those invited will atte.nd the conference and give me 
thrir help. On me and on them will lie a heavy respomibilil'V in this 
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fresh attempt to make progre'&s toward!! a final settlement of India's 

future. 
If the meeting is successful, I hope that we shall be able to as;ree 

on the formation of the new Executive CounCil at the Centre. 1 also hope 
that it will be possible for Ministries to reassume office and again under­
take the task of Government in the Provinces now admlDistcred under 
Section 93 of the Constitution Act and that these Ministries will be wah­

tions. 
If the meeting should unfortunately fail, we must carryon as at 

present until the parties are readY to come together. The e"(,sting Exe­
cutive Council, which has done ~uch valuable w()rk for Ind'a, will conti 
nue if other arrangements cannJt be agreed. 

But 1 have every hope that the mf:'eting will succeed, If ,the Party 
leaders will approach the problem with the ~1I,cere intention of worklOg 
with me and with each other. I can assure them that ther!' is behind this 
proposal a mo.~t genume desire OIl the part of all respon~ible I!'aders in 

the United Kingdom and of the Bntlsh people- as a whole to help India 
towards her goal. I believe that this is more tha'l a step towards the 
goal, it is a considerable stride forward, and a stride on the rtgtt path. 

I should make it clear that these proposals affect Bnhsh India only 
and do not make any alteration in the relatIOns of the Princes with 
the Crown Representative. 

With the approval of His Majesty's Government, and after con~ul­
tation with my Council, orders have been given for the immediate rr-Jease 
of the members of the Working Committee of Congress who are still 10 

detention. I ~opose to leave the final deCision about tht:' others "tlll 
under detention a~ the result of the 1942 dISturbances to the new Central 
Government, if formed, and to the Provincial Government.~. 

The appropriate time for fresh elections for the Central and ProvinciaJ 
legislatures will be discussed at the conference. 

Finally, I would ask you all to help in creating the atmosphere of 
goodwill and mutual confidence that is essential if we are to make pro­
gress. The destiny of this great country and of the many millions 'who 
live in it depend on the wisdom and good understanding of the leaders, 
both of action and of thought, British and Indian, at this critical moment 
of India's history. 

India's military reputauon n<"Ver stood higher in the world than it 
does at present, thanks to the exploits of her sons drawn &om all puts 
of the country. Her representatives at international conference have won 
high regard for their statesmanlike attitude. Sympathy for India's 
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aspirations and progress towards prosperity was never greater or more 
widespread. Wf' have thus great assets if we can use them wisely. But 
it will not be easy, it will not be quick; there is very much to do, there 
are many pitfalls and dangers. '1 htre is on all Sides something to forgive 

and forget. 
I believe in the future of India, and as far as in me lies, I will 

further her greatness. I ask you all for your cooperation and goodwill. 
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APPENDIX IV 

GANDHIjI'S STATEMENT ON VICEROY'S BROADCAST 

On the purely political aspect of the Viceregal broadcast I prefer 
to say nothing, now that the members of the Working Committee of the 
Congress are free. I can only give them my advice and it is they who 
have to shape the policy of the Congress and speak and a.ct with authority, 
As soon as I read the broadcast, I sent a wire to H. E. the Viceroy 
drawing his attention to the fact that I have no locus standi as the 
"recognised representative of the Congress". That function belongs to 
the President of the Congress or whoe ... er may be appointed to represent 
the Congress on a particular occasion. For scveral years I have acted 
unofficially as an adviser to the Congress whenever required. The pub­
lic will remember that I went with the same unrepresentative character 
for my talks with Quaid-i-Azam Jinnah; and I can take up no other 
position with the British Government, in this instance repr~er..ted by 

the Viceroy. 

There is one expression in the Viceregal broancast which certainly 
offends my ear and, I hope, will offend that of every politically-mino,.d 
Hindu. J refer to the expression "Caste Hindus". I claim that there is 
no such pt'rson, speaking politically, as a "Caste Hindu". Let alone the 
Congress whie-h seeks to represent the whole of India which i. yearning 
after political independence. Does Veer Savarkar or Dr. Shyamaprlhad 
or Dr. Moonje of the Hindu Mahasabhl> represent Caste Hindus? Do 
they not represent all Hindus without distinction of caste? Do they not 
include the so-called Untouchables? Do they thernse1v~ claim to b, 
Caste Hindu~? I hope not. Of all politically-minded Hindus, I know 
that even the revered Pandit Malaviyaji, though he observes caste distinc­
tions, will refuse to be callen 'a Caste Hindu, as distinguished from the 

other Hindus. Modern tendency in Hinduism is to abolish all caste dis­
tinctions and this I maintain in spite of my knowledge of reactionary 
elements in Hindu society. I can only hope therefore that H. E. the 
Viceroy has allowed himself to make use of the expression in utter igno­
rance. I want to acquit him of knowingly wounding the susceptibilities 
of Hindu society or dividing it. I would not have dwelt OR this matter 
but for the fact that it touches the political mind of Hindus in its sensi­
tive spot and carries with it political repercussions. 
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The proposed conference can do much useful work if it is put in its 
proper political setting and is at tht" vt"ry outset rendf>red immune from 
any fissiparous tendency. Undoubtedly all invitees must appear as Indiana 
::f)njointly bent on achieving India's 1.Mllral goal and not 1\$ persona 
representing several sections of Indian society. That l' how I hav(' vi('wed 
Bhulabhai-Liaquat Ali understanding which I suppose laid thf> foundation 
for the forthcoming Viceregal confert"nce. Shri Bhulabhai Desai's pro­
posal has no such colouring as the Vicer('gal broadca,t would seem to 
have. I am not ashamed of the part I have played in advising Shri 
Bhulabhai Desai when he consult .. d me about his proposal. Shri Bhuldbhai 
Desai's proposal, as I understood it, attracted me as on(' intl"rest('d in 
,~ving the comm·.mal tangle, and J assured him that I would u~e my 
infhlenc(' with the members of the Working Committee and give my 
r .. asons for acceptance of his proposal. And I have no doubt that, if both 
the parties tn the proposal correctly rt"pres('nt tht"ir constituents and have 
independence (If India as their common goal, things must shape wt"U. At 
this point I must stop and the Working Committee has to take up the 
thread. It is for its members to declare the Congress mind on the 

impel1din~ question. 
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APPENDIX V 

THE CONGRESS LIST OF NAMES SUBMITTED TO THE 
VICEROY FOR THE PROPOSED EXECUTIVE COUNCIL 

DURING SIMLA CONFERENCE: 194') 

1. Maulana Abul Kalam Azad 
2. Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru 
3. Sardar Vallabhbhal Patel 
4. Dr. Rajendra Prasad 
5. Mr. M. A. J mnah 
6. Nawabzada Liaqat Alz Kba;l 
7. Nawab Mohammad hmail Khan 
8. Mr. M. Asar All 
9. Dr. Shyama Prasad MukerJI 

10. Rajkumari Amrit Kaur 
II. Sbri Muniswaml Plllay 
12. Shn Radhanath Das 
13. Shri Gaganvlhari L. Mehta 
14. Sir Ardeshlr Dalal 
II A S;kh member (name to be submitted later) . 
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APPENDIX VI 

DR. LORIA'S STATeMENT TO HIS LAWYER 

In my applications to the Punjab High Court dated 13th Dt'cembr-r 

1944 and 19th January 1945, I have described in outline my detention 
in the Lahore Fort. I will here recapitulatt', briefly and in hurry, som(' 

. of the incidents. I will also add certain namt's and dates. Howt'ver, this 

is no full account. Also, some of the most atrociou~ featurt's of the 
.Lahore Fort can only be- brought out by one who st'tlIed down and had 

tho: talent to communicate a long and painful expt'rit"nct', a part of 

who~e effect consists in repeating some crude tricks on the n('rves and 
the will. 

I was arrested in Bombay on 20th May, 1944, and, except for two 
or three occal>ions when I was taken to th!:' Bombay police headquarters. 

I was detained in the Arthur Road Jail. On 20th Junt', I was serv('d 

with an' order of the Central GOVl'rnment dated ith June and wa1 

brou~ht to Lahore on 22nd June. This order dir('cted that I ('ould bt' 
drtaint'd "anywher .. including tht' Punjab Province". The primarY motive 

of thi~ ordrr was to put me on the rack. That it continued my df'tt'ntion 

wa5 incidental, at best, a joint purpose. 

My things were search('d in one of the interrogation room~ and I 
was deprived of a book I had, pen and paper, shaving things and the 

li~e. I was tht'n t~ken to a cell where my person was searcht'd. I Wa! 

expened to wash and bathe inside the cell and the small spact' bt"tween 
the (ell-door and the flooring was both a gutter for dirty watt'r and a 

• passage for food. A fairly powerful light-bulb was kept on oVl."rhead 
throughout thl." night. Another wall a few paces away from the cell­

walls blocked all bree7.e, mosquitoes abounded and the concrete mwt have 

p~t up the Lahore temperature quit<- a bit. Right from the second day, 
{he police officers slarted calling me names, unprincipled, cowardly and 
all that, when not giving me long lectures on truth and the right bc.-­
ha"iour, one of them wouH reel at me for stretches which sCl'ml."d 
infernally long such refrains as .... 

I could not bring myself to eat. It was no hunger-strikt', ju,t the 

utter inability to eat. During the day, they would bold me handcuffed 
in the interrogation room and one midnight, probably the fourth of my 
a.'Tival, they had mt" taken out of the cell for an hour in their office. 
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On the sixth day, the Superintendent of Police in charge of my Ul­

terrogation promised me that I could have my bath under the tap OUi­

side my cell, that my cell-door would be opened whi e giving me food 
and, as to my third requirement, he said that he would himself cut out 
filthy language. It was probably a mistake on my part to havt" started 
eating. 

For about a fortnight thereafter, I had comparative relief. Tht"y 
would still hold me handcuffed in their office throughout the day, when 
they tried to mix the arts of flattery with subtle hints of terror and the 
unknown. At this stage, in addition to SuperIntendent of Police, Syt"d, 

Ahmed and Inspector Muhammad Hussain, who worked on me from the 
beginning, Inspector Maharaj Kishen "'as also brought in. 

I was perfectly willing to face a law-court, with no intentiof' to 
deny acts in which I alone was lIlvolvl"d. I also volunteered to writt" a 
note to the Central Govt"rnment accepting such acts, If that was what 

they wanted. 

About mid-July, I was kept awake fOT five days and ni~hts. Except 

fOT an half-hour bath, they kept me handcuffed in their office, \"Len no' 
orating, they engaged in general abuse of the Congress. 

After reducing a man to a literally tottt'ring state and working or 
his nerves, they do a lot of servile cringing and pretend to tOll(h th! 

feet of their victim in expiatJOn. 

They were now willing to accept orally what I had offered to ~lve 
them in writing. Once again, they tned to broaden the scope of my offel 
through two sleepless days and a night, but ended inat up in crmgtllg 
Up to early August, it was largely a case of my selcetmg for them th( 
"arious pamphlets and speeches that I had written or spoken and the) 
made summaries of these. 

But this was not what they wanted, though it whNtecl (heir appe· 
tite. They read me whole chunks from reports of the Central and Bengal 
intelligence and from statements which they saId had bt-t'n mad., b)l 
others. This they probably did with a view to impres~ upon mt' tli~ 

extent of their information and to ease my burden in so far as I had 
only to affirm or deny. I can only say that they have no information 011 

vital affairs or it is inaccurate and, even on other affairs, it is' ~ketchy. 
Among their angry repetitions was that they had allowed my interroga­
tion to beeome their own whieh certainly was not of my doing and could 
only be ascribed to their own detecting skill. Whatevl'r it was, whether 
terror and fear of the unknown or the silly notion that one may aC('t'pt 
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one's own acts anywhere, I had made the onginal ~lip, which alsll land~ 

me into a few affirmations about acts in which I alone was not involvt'CI. 

In early August, they tried another method. From noon of a liay 
to the middle of next night, they kept mt' standing with a break of about 
four hours. When I would not stand voluntarily, one man on each side 
of me held me by the hand. On the second occasion that the Inspector 

snatched away my spectacles, I am myopic to the extent of -5, I closed 
my eyes. This Wal. nCVf"r attempted again. I shall only say that for weeks 

afterwards I saw black stains on my calf~. This was again ended by 
. cringing on the Inspector's part. 

From about 10th August to 30th August, Superintendent Syed Ahmed 
was away in Delhi. Instructions were probably left behind nol to go 

beyond working on my nerves until the Superintendent returned. I would 
be taken in the day to the interrogation room and would be made to 

listen to their prattle or their cajolery or threats of the lurid unknown. 

Even as I said nothing or said that I had nothin15 to say, they would 
re ... d out from their r('poru. I was struck that they should try to gain in­

formation in this way about heads and embassies of allied nations, not 
to talk 8r German or Japanese agents, when, out of sheer impishness, 
one might like to gull them with reports just to breed a little more inl(-r­

national suspidon. Among the notions that crossed my mind was a 

per~istent picture of gutter water and how these intelligence men tried 
to force one to drink H. 

On the Superintendent's return, I was agam krpt awake frau, ahout 
2nd to 6th September. The Superintendent brought with him some 
ph~tos~atic copies ;nd r!"ports. Heavy-lidded, I had to listen to these or 
some ineffectual speeches. This was the Superintendent's la~t effort and 

he went away on 10th Scpt!"mbcr, presumably again to Delhi. lnsycctor 

.\faharaJ Kishen had already heen withdra.,n. Of cours!", I did not know 

that they had withdrawn and, for all that I knew, they could ha\'e 
I eappeared at any sta~e. 

,Inspector Mohammad Hussain, supported by hiS con~tables and s("n­
trles, kept me awake from about 14th tv 30th Septt-mber with a break 

on the Id Day. Up to the Id Day, I would be takcn to my cell in the 
night bu]. aft('r uncertain jrotcrvals of an hour or half, ba<.k again to 
the office to be kept awake. T.lis would happ!"n about thr!"(" times in the 
night. From the ld Day, however, I was kept rontinuolL~ly awake. J 

might bere state that, during this month of being kept awake, I had to 
~ve up eating and drank a glaJll' of milk, half water, In the morning and 
some tepid water called tea m the evening. I had also to cut down 
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drinking water for the constables detailed to keep me awake, wbo !lome­
times took shifts with the inspector, said they were not allowed to tak~ 

me out of the office. I was also not allowed to stretch my legs or walk. 

If the constables thought that I had closed my eyes, when they were ollly 
heavy, they kept on shuttling my head. Else, they would pull the heavy chain 
attached to the handcuffs. The inspector was now reaching the high in 
filthy talk. He was free with haraMatada and the like. On 23rd September 
noon, when he tried to make me stand, I a~ked him not to attempt any­
thing with me single-handed. He shouted hIS constabl("s in and also the 
armrd sentry who always kept guard on me. On~ man on each sidt'" held. 
me by the hand and the m~pector let loose his vile talk. I had had 
enough of this terror and uncf'rtainty and being kept continuously awake 
and being treated as dirt and had the urge to reinstate mys~lf in my 
own eyes something beyond passivity. I told the inspector that 

he was the coward of the fort with all his terror amI evil dom~ and 
fancied prowess. A Sub-Inspe<..tor's hand flew at my throat but it was 
withdrawn and so was the inspector's who tned to shake my head for 
some time. Thenceforth, I had comparative quiet in the matter 'Jf rough 
talk. Again OT} 25th Septt'mber, before the break of dawn and {.t ~ time 
of these sleepless days when my head would feel like breaking forth into 
fumes, the inspector wanted me to shift my chaIr so a!> to face the 
light-hulb. On his trying to lIft me out of my chair, I again warned 
him off and he shouted in II constable:- and the sen try. rhe three of tbem 
lifted me out of chair but they could not make me stand, so that the 
cOllstablt'" and the armed sentry with the fixed bayonet held me on each 
lude and the inspector pre~serl on my ankles in a vL.in <:>ffort. Later,ehe 
asked the sently to put away his rifle. Aftcr som!' tmlc, he gave up and 
let me slump on the matted floor and a~ked the constable to whe<:>l me 
around and then my manacltd hands like in the motion of a mill-stone . 

This continued until it was time for my bath. • 

Clots of blood started forming in my nose ... nd I spat traces of 
blood, when in October, I had contmuous fever for tcn days. The dqctor 
called it seven days' fever. • 

Round about the Diwali day, I was changed to a cell, which is 
among the worst in the fort, I was also taken for some hOI irS to the 
basement celler of the fort-office, where I was told that a new process 
was to start before which the bravest and the most hardened CTiminals 
quailed, a persistent remark <:>xcept for the new setting in which it was 
made, which I could only look upon as a relief. Cajoleries never quite 
cea.c;ed. Could I give them one address where a transmitter could be 
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aelzed, some foreign contacts, when not that, the money-givers or the 
accommodation addresses or a place where arms were dumped ? 

The ordeal ended on 25th October. I continued in my cell. In early 

December, I was allowed newspapelS and writin~ material~ when, 011 

13th December, I made my Habeas Corpus 4pplication to the Puniab 
High Court. I supplemented it with another on 19th J,muary, 1945. 
On 30th January, my application was heard and I was examin~d on 
oath. The learned judge thought my allegations serious, wanted to go into 
them and demanded an affidaVit of the Central Guvernm("nt. Howevt"r, 
he was later influenced by the Government'~ pit-a to tran~fer me to anothrr 
place of detention. I think it was a faulty findin~ to haw' disregarded 
that the primary motive of my detention (mh-r was to tramfer mt' to the 
Lahore Fort. Aside from the technical aspcct, th(" learned judge should 
have continued with the enquiry that he had started into the facts of the 
case. At one time I f{'1t that he thought the case seriom enough to be 
adjud:cated one way or the other. 

My applicatIOn to the F("deral Court was rej('C'ted on tht" plea that 
the court had no jurisdictic.n. Aft("r two ·more notc~ to the Central Govern­
mt"nt tnd an application to the Allahabad High Court, I have now 
been allowed to mert my lawver, Mr. Madan Pittie, and am writing 
thj~ note for furthrr proceedings. 

2 itb October 1943, 
Agra Central Jail. 
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APPENDIX VII 

WHITE MAN'S BURDEN! 

According to Reuter's picked Indians, men and women, headed by 
Dr. Naicker, commenced Satyagraha (in South Africa popularly known 
as passive resistance) on June 14th in respect of the Segregation Law of 
the Union Parliament of South Africa. The same agency further reports 
that neither the Government por the M'lnicipality had taken any action 
against the passive resisters but that some 'Whites' of Durban had taken 
thc execution of the law into their own hands by raiding the camp at 
night, cutting down tents swiftly and carrymg them away. "A band of 
100 young White men broke through the cordon of 50 Indian passive 
resIsters, pulled down the tents and dragged them away torn. Some camp 
stretchers were smal>hed and blankets and pillows removed. Two women 
resisters were involved in the melee. They are stated to have been lUcked 
but not injured." 

The papers report that after three days of hooliganism the BUlvugh 
Police had posted themselves near the scene of pa~sive resIstance aud 
warned thl" hooligans against molesting the resisters and terrorizing them 
into submission. This is heartening news. Let us hope that it can be 
taken at its full value and that the protection means fullest protection 
agamst lawlessness, sporadic or organized. Organized popular lawless-
ness is known as lynching, so shamelessly frequent ih America. • 

Before the Segregation Law wa~ passed, White men, known to be 
respectable, had carrIed anti-.~iatic agitation to the point of frl"nzy. Not 
satisfied with their triumph in having legislation compelling segregation 

passed probably bl"yond expectation, th!" more advanced section among 
the agitators have become the !"xecutioners of their own laws. They do 
not know that they are thereby aefaming the White man's name!!! • 

My appeal to the White men and women who have regard for laws 
for which they have voted is that they should create public opinion 
against hooliganism and lynch law. 

Passive resistance is aimed at removal in a most approved manner 
of bad laws. customs or other evils and is designed to be a complete and 
effective substitute for forcible methods includmg hooliganism and lynch 
law. It is an appeal to the heart of man. Often reason fails. It is 
dwarfed by self. The theory is that an ade<tuate appeal to the heart never 
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fails. Seeming failure is not of the law of Satyagraha but of incompe­

tence of the Satyagrahi by whatever cause induce'd. It may not be 
possible to give a complete historical instance. The name of Jesus at 
once comes to the lips. It is an in~tanee of brilliant failure. And he has 
been acclaimed in the West as Prince of pa.nive resisters. I showed yean 
ago in South Africa that the adjective 'passive' was a misnomer, at least 
as applied to Jesus. He was the most active resister knowll perhaps to 
history. His was non-violence par excellence. But I must no longer stray 
from my main subject. It is the resistance of th(~ Jesus type that the 
White hooligans are seeking to thwart. Let us hope that nur country­
men's heroic resistance will not only shame the hooligans into silence 
but prove the precursor of the repeal of the law that disfigures the statute 

book of South Africa. In concrete form, what pure suffering, wholly 
one-sided, docs is to stir public opinion against a wrollg. Legislators are, 
after all, representatives of the public. In obedience to it they have 
enact~d a wrong. They have to reverse the process when the sam~ public, 
awakened to the wrong demands its removal. 

The real 'White man's burden' is not insolently to dominate coloured 
or black- people under the guise of protection, it is to desist from the 
hypocrisy which is eating into them. It is time, White men learnt to 
treat every human be'ing as their equal. Thc-re is no mystery about 
whiteness of the skin. It has rt'pC'at"dly been proved that given equal 
opportunity a man, be he of any colour or cuuntry, is fully equal to 
any other. 

• Therefore, White men throughout the world and especially of India 
should act upon their fellow men in South Africa and call upon them 
not to molest Indian resisters who are bravely struggling to preserve the 

self-respect of Indians ill the Union and the honour of their motherland. 
-"Do unto others as you would that they should do unto you." Or, do 

they take in vain the name of Him who said this? Have they bani,hed 
from their hearts the great c!.tloured Asiatic who gave to the world the 
l\beve message? Do they forget that the greatest of the teachers of mall­
kind were all Asiatics and did not possess a white fare? Thesr.', if they 

descended on earth and W"!nt to South Africa, will all have to live in the 
$egregat.d areas and be classed as Asiatics and coloured people unfit by 
law to be equals of Whites. 

Is a civilization worth the name which requires for its e"Cistcnce the 
very doubtful prop of racial l~gislation and lynch law ~ The silver lining 
to the cloud that hangs over the devoted heads of our countrymen lies 
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in the plucky action of Rev. Scott, a White clergyman, and his equaliv 
White fellow workers, who have undertaken to share the sufferings Of 

the Indian resisters. 

New Delbi, 26-6-'46 
(llarijan, June 30, 1946) 
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APPENDIX VIII 

THE TWO TELEGRAMS FROM SOUTH AFRICA 

I 

Acts of savag~ violence committed against peac('fu\ pa~sivc fl"Sisten 

by mobs (of) unrulv Europeans during last few tlI~llts when resisters have 

. been heaten uncomcious, two of whom still lying in serious condition and 

somt' going about v.ith swollm facts has, onlv m:ld" Indian people more 

-:I. (ermined (to) c.irry their struggle for emancipation. Despite bau 

meeting held Nicols Square today (al) 5-:~O p.m. attended by tt'n thou­

sand h,dian men and womer. resolved (to) carryon non-violent struggle. 

Permission holding met'ting had been refused by city council. A gallant 

band (of) volunteers who have been camping on and off rt'sistance came 

whenever not in detention cell present. Amongst them Doctors Naickers 

and Gonnam and M. D. Naidoo who addressed me.-ting. Dr. Y. M. 
D"cloo flew especially from Johannesburg addreo;sing meeting said: 
"Gallant band of rcsisters (have) bef'n subjected (to) brutal attacks by 

members of raCt' who claim to hold aloft banners of civilizations in Africa 

and Asia. Ruthless attacks (of) E,.rorean mobs upon people who, they 

know, (are) plt'dged not to retaliate put to shame S. S. Guards of Nazi 
Germany. Have displayed despicable behaviour but honoUl giles to rellis­
ters' courage and fortitude We can assure 4-00 million people (of) Indil' 

(tft.at) despite ~ssa~lts (we) will carry struggle slric..tly (on) non-violent 

basis. Decent-minded people (are) asking why mob rule (is) allowl'd by 

police. What ha!> happened to Governml'nt of country. Similar mob rule 

..against (a) section (of) European community would have creat('d tre­

mendous indignation and outcry all over (tht') country but because 

Indian peopJe happened to be a vo!e1ess section no notice lis) taken. 
IHe) further warned (the) Indian people' (that) even one act of violence 

orl "their part would play intn hands of Europeans and wreck movement." 

Immediately after meeting huge crowd (of) Indians accompanied +7 

Indian passive resisters volunteers (who) left for resistance camp. Large 

police fo\-ce and misguided European crowd awaiting 8-20 p.m. Ajoss­
k~ District Commandant through police van loud-~peaker "in name 
(of) magistrate issued warning declaring any gathering within nve 

hundred yards of intersection Sumbbilo and Gale streets unlawful auembly 

in tertns of riotous assemblies ... order remains in force seven daya." Crowds 
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